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--- Upon commencing at 9:30 a.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  


Mr. Millar, I understand there some procedural matters.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  I think Mr. Shepherd wished to speak to a number of items. 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Maybe Mr. Rodger can go first and I’ll object to what he’s saying.


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Perhaps I could just start and pick up from where we left off the other day.  I wanted to deal with the outcome of the Board's order about production of certain documents.  Perhaps that should be done first.  


Toronto Hydro has prepared a confidentiality undertaking which it circulated to parties yesterday.  And I understand that Mr. Shepherd, and maybe others, have comments on our draft.  The confidential materials that we are disclosing includes the budget documentation, the business plan to 2010 - and I actually misspoke myself the other day, I think I advised the Board that it was out to 2007, but it is actually out to 2010 – and the amount of 2005 financial statements.


So this material, in total, is over 100 pages.  It is largely PowerPoint slides, but there are financial statements.  


So the way that we propose to proceed is to deal with any issues on the confidentiality agreements my friends may have, and I'll respond after I hear them, and thereafter, execute those agreements, give my friends the materials, the confidential materials but then continue the cross-examination of this panel today and then start the in-camera portion of the hearing on the confidential materials tomorrow.  And that way it allows my friends enough time to go through the materials rather than just getting the materials now and starting right into it.


So our view is that we should still continue with this panel, if we are to have any hope of trying to wrap up the case by Friday afternoon, which I understand is the current plan.  


So I would like to hear from my friends on the confidentiality agreement, and then I will --
     MR. KAISER:  I understand there is a dispute on the form of the confidentiality agreement.  


MR. MILLAR:  There is, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, do you want to lead off on that issue?


MR. MILLAR:  Well, Mr. Chair --


MR. KAISER:  Well, excuse me.  Mr. Rodger, why don’t you address the issue?


MR. RODGER:  Actually, I'm not exactly sure what it is at this point. 


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. Shepherd, you can start.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm actually going to ask Mr. Warren to lead.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Mr. Warren.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, we’re having some difficulty hearing you because the mike is so far away from you. 


MR. KAISER:  I’m sorry.  Is that better?   


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MR. KAISER:  Before you start, Mr. Warren, could I see the proposed draft?   This the prepared, I take it, by the applicant?


MR. MILLAR:  That's right, Mr. Chair.  The Board has its own form of this undertaking. 


MR. KAISER:  That's what I thought.  Can we see your as well?


MR. MILLAR:  We'll pass them both up. 


MR. KAISER:  Anyone else got a form?  Just the two?


MR. MILLAR:  I think just the two.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren?   


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, as the Board is aware, the issue of the confidentiality of materials has arisen in a number of cases, most recently over the last couple of years in the case of Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc.  And it arose in that case for two reasons.  One was the disclosure of certain information from the parent, Enbridge Inc., which offers its securities in the public market.  And the second context was that we were asking intervenors and the Board was asking for the production of certain information related to agreements that Enbridge Gas and Enbridge Inc. had entered into with unregulated third parties, who themselves offered their securities on the public market.  So it was a considerably complex issue arising in that case.  


But what all parties ultimately agreed, was to sign a confidentiality agreement that was substantially what the Board's form was.  And the implicit understanding in that case was that the Board, as the regulator, should be the one that dictates the terms of the confidentiality agreement.  


Against that background, I received, as I think my friends received, late yesterday afternoon or early evening, the form of a confidentiality on the letterhead of Toronto Hydro Corporation, the form which you have in front of you.  And it would be my guess, subject to what my friend Mr. Rodger has to say, that this is a form which is run off of word processor from a precedent commercial agreement in which a purchaser would be agreeing to terms of confidentiality in order to -- as part of a due diligence process.  It is not, in my respectful submission, a form which is appropriate to the context of this case in which the Board has ordered production and it would be produced not to parties that have a commercial interest in the information but intervenors who have a public interest intervention to represent the interests of their various constituents.  


Against that background, if I could ask you to turn up the confidentiality agreement which you see in front of you.  And I’m just going to take you through those points which my client finds to be –- 


MR. KAISER:  Before do you that, Mr. Warren, Mr. Rodger, you have seen the form that Board counsel proposed. 


MR. RODGER:   Yes. 


MR. KAISER:  Is there any problem with that?   


MR. RODGER:   I just got it this morning.  I think if I could leave that for my reply, I would like to explain the whole context of how the document came about that you've seen, and why Toronto Hydro has the concerns that it does.  But we have seen the Board Staff's, we received that this morning.  As I say, if I could deal with that in my reply. 


MR. KAISER:  I was just trying to cut it short.  I mean, I think Mr. Warren is right.  The usual practice would be that the Board would draft the form of agreement.  And the undertakings are to the Board, of course, and the Board is a party to that and the Board can enforce the agreement.  So I think the starting point in the discussion -- I presume that this is the standard form, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that’s right.  It’s exactly the form we used in Enbridge. 


MR. KAISER:  I'm wondering why there is a need to depart from this in this case. 


MR. RODGER:  My friend talked about what has happened in other proceedings.  And you know, first of all, we don't have any information of exactly what was asked for.  My friend said it was the production of certain agreements, but in this case, we are looking at a business plan that extends out to 2010, and it includes the unaudited financial statements.  Now, those will be public when they are audited, in some months time.  I suggest that is a little different when you are looking at several years, potentially, of information.  


So we prepared this in terms of how Toronto Hydro sees its obligations as a reporting issuer under the Securities Act.  And our main thrust here is that disclosure -- we want to be confident that disclosure is limited to the purpose of the in-camera hearing only.  


And just to give you a sense of the have flavour of what we have been considering. 


MR. KAISER:  Can I just understand that point, disclosure is limited to the purpose of --


MR. RODGER:  Of this in-camera proceeding, that's right. 


MR. KAISER:  Well, I mean, if there's a nondisclosure agreement, there's a nondisclosure agreement. 


MR. RODGER:  Yes, but I think -- and I’m anticipating what my friends may say, that they are concerned about returning to us the material or notes, that kind have thing, and I think I have an approach for that.  But if you could just bear with me.


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. RODGER:  What we've been thinking about is it seems to us that this information being tendered raises some interesting legal questions, and, you know, I'm thinking in terms of, for example, freedom of information.  Does the information that would be tendered in this in-camera proceeding, does that become records in possession of the Board?   And for some of the intervenors, and I just site the Schools Coalition as an example, given the kind of intervenor they are.  If, for example, counsel to Schools, and I'm not saying this would happen, but just as an example, just simply transcribed let's say one chart from the confidential material onto another page.  No notes, no legal advice, just a chart, and that went out to the school boards.  If I was so inclined, I might, after this hearing, put in a freedom of information request and say, Is there any records in the possession of the OEB or Toronto District School Board and ask for disclosure of that.  


So that’s what we're kind of thinking about.  Given the long-term nature of some of this information, those are the kinds of concerns we are having.  So we're trying to give Toronto Hydro the comfort that it will be produced and then it will be returned at the end of this proceeding.  That's why we drafted it the way that we have.
     MR. KAISER:  That will be the case with respect to any form of agreement.  Your proposition assumes that Mr. Shepherd is going to breach this agreement.
     MR. RODGER:  No, I'm not presuming that.  I'm just saying that the fact that information may go to certain bodies, can we be absolutely confident at the outset that things like freedom of information would be in effect which would preclude certain information from being disclosed.  And when I prepared this document, I don't pretend to be an expert in the securities regime, but one of my colleagues at my firm was former general counsel at the Ontario Securities Commission and he had a lot of input into this.  So that’s kind of the context.  

I think, if I can anticipate what my friends are saying, that their concern is about notes they may make for their clients, that we would be prepared to amend this agreement by saying that, either at the end of this hearing they return the materials to us or their notes or they give us a written undertaking that that material has been destroyed.  And that way it’s clear that the material is not going to be available.  They have use of it for this hearing, as is intended.  And I think that would get us to where we want to go, if I can anticipate some of my friends’ comments.
     MR. KAISER:  Let’s start with the basics.  Looking at the Board's proposed confidentiality agreement, declaration and undertaking, doesn’t paragraph 2 and 3 cover your concerns?

MR. RODGER:  Well, I think -- and I’ll let my friends speak to it, but I thought paragraphs 2 and 3 might be part of the same issue they had our agreement; the idea that notes taken by an intervenor, and does that get into the issue of solicitor-client privilege?   I think, at least my sense was, that that might be part of the concern with my friends.

MR. KAISER:  We'll deal with them in a minute.  What's your position?  Does 2 and 3 address your concerns or not?

MR. RODGER:  I think they are probably subsumed within our broader agreement.  I think Toronto Hydro's position is, if we really think that both documents get to the same point, they simply prefer to use the Toronto Hydro form.   As I say, my understanding is the intervenors -- perhaps it’s number 3 in particular, that that was a concern regardless of the form.  But maybe I’m wrong.
     MR. KAISER:  All right.  But in so far as your client is concerned, paragraphs 2 and 3 of the Board's proposed agreement are satisfactory?
     MR. RODGER:  I think it captures the flavour.
     MR. KAISER:  Well, is there anything you want added, flavour or otherwise.
     MR. RODGER:  As I say, it's difficult in -- that's why I wanted to give some context to this whole broader agreement.  I mean, I think I’d prefer, sir, if there were particular things in our agreement that intervenors may want tweaked or changed.  I think that would give the company more comfort, frankly.  When I had a discussion with Mr. Millar about this, it was in the context of requiring basically two agreements; we would have ours and the Board would have theirs.
     MR. KAISER:  We're not going to have two agreements.  We’re going to have one agreement.  It makes no sense to have two agreements.  And I don't know why we can't start with the Board's agreement that's used in each and every other case.  If something has to be added to meet the circumstances of this case, we'll deal with that and we’ll hear submissions on that.
     MR. RODGER:  As I say, I'm seeing the Board's agreement for the first time this morning.
     MR. KAISER:  So you haven't seen it before this morning?
     MR. RODGER:  No.
     MR. KAISER:  Oh, I didn’t realize that.  I apologize.  I thought this had been circulated yesterday.  All right.  Well, we'll give you time to look at it.  

In the meantime we'll hear from Mr. Warren.

MR. WARREN:  Our position, basically, Mr. Chairman, is that the Board's form – first of all, the Board is the one who should dictate the form, and that the form covers all the concerns that my friend could have.  The information is not reproduced.  It's either returned to the Board or destroyed, which is the case in Enbridge.  We simply advise Enbridge and the other parties that's it's been destroyed.

But let me take you to the form of undertaking which my friend is asking us to sign, and look, for example -- first of all, Mr. Chairman, the ordinary drill in these cases, according to the Board's own rules, is that the Board takes a look at the information and sees what the nature and extent of the problem is with respect to disclosure and whether or not the level of protection that my friend seeks is appropriate.  We don't know, beyond a broad description, what this information is. 

But if you look on page 3 of the form, my friend asks, or the form asks, that we personally deliver back to Toronto Hydro the material and “any notes, charts and memoranda based on such information.”  Now, this is a contested proceeding.  The notes which I may take on the information are subject to solicitor-client privilege, and frankly my client isn't prepared to waive that.  

But if you go to the next page, you see in paragraphs 7 and 8, you have the assertions that Toronto Hydro will suffer irreparable harm and is entitled, without any argument from the intervenors, to injunctive relief.  They also seek in the following paragraph, paragraph 8, an indemnification agreement.  My client’s a public interest organization that doesn't have two pennies to rub together.  It can't conceivably undertake to indemnify Toronto Hydro for any damages, the nature, of which, have not been established.

And my simple position on this, Mr. Chairman, is that this agreement is the kind of agreement that you would refer in a commercial transaction where there is something to be gained by the person who is getting the information from its disclosure.  That's not the case here.  And in our respectful submission, it’s simply a case of over-reaching by my friend, and that the Board's form covers all of the concerns.  

We are governed by the rules of the Law Society of Upper Canada.  We give an undertaking, a solemn undertaking, that we will not disclose this information and that should end of it.  The Board’s form is complete.

I should also point out, Mr. Chairman, that we have fought over this issue now over a number of cases with Enbridge.  And, as was pointed out and adopted by the Board in the last of the Enbridge cases, there has never been a single example of one drop of confidential information disclosed to anybody.  I make that point, simply saying that the Board's form works.  It's respected by parties, it's respected by everybody, and it works.  And in our respectful submission, it's more than adequate for the purposes of this case.  

I have to tell you, frankly, Mr. Chairman, my instructions –- my recommendation to my client, and I'm sure the recommendation would be accepted, is that we simply cannot sign their form which requires us to indemnify them for an unspecified amount of level of damages.  

Those are my submissions, sir.
     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, first of all, Mr. Rodger’s example of School Energy Coalition breaching the confidentiality undertaking is outrageous and he should withdraw it.  

Secondly, we support the submissions of Mr. Warren, but I guess I would take it a step further.  In my day job, when I'm not here in this hearing room, what I do is advise start-up technology companies.  So, as you can imagine, confidential information is the biggest issue for those companies, day in and day out.  Dozens of times a week we have to deal with this.  

In fact, the commercial practice that I'm used to, that I see every day, is that if a relationship has a finite period, then you return your confidential information at the end of that finite period because you don't need it anymore.  If you have a negotiation out for a contract, then if the contract does not proceed, if the negotiations fail, you typically have an obligation to return the confidential information.  You have no reason for it anymore; you have no relationship with the person who gave it to you.

On the other hand, in circumstances in which you do have an ongoing relationship, there is almost never an obligation to return the information.  Why?  Because even if the particular reason you have it today is finished, you still have a relationship so you may need it in the future.

Case in point is, this information relates to the 2006 rate case of Toronto Hydro.  They want to us return it, including our notes by the way, which is also ridiculous, at the end of the 2006 rate case.  But this information will also be relevant to the 2007 rate case and the 2008 rate case.  This is where the Board’s form finds the right answer.  What it says is, we have to return the information when the Board tells us to.  And so the Board can look and say, Well, okay, this information, the 2005 unaudited financials, you don't need that anymore because you’ve got the audited financials on the record.  Give that back.  And give it, by the way, to the Board, not back to the company with your notes on it.

But the Board may well say, this is planned to 2010, as long as you maintain confidentiality you can keep that for the next rate case. 


MR. KAISER:  I don't read this agreement that way.  Do you have the Board's draft?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, it says --


MR. KAISER:  It says, “at the end of the proceeding.”


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, “upon the Board's request.”  And that, I believe, is the purpose of that; so that the Board can use judgement and say what is necessary and what is not necessary.  For example, the Board can say at the time, Return anything that's clean, but anything that's not clean destroy it and show us that you've done so.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.  So your point is that the adding of this phrase “upon the Board's request” creates flexibility as to when the material is to be delivered up. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  When and how, yes, precisely.  So our submission is that we are quite happy and quite willing to be under the obligation to the Board to maintain confidentiality, and we've always done so.  We’ve had lots of confidential information, always maintained confidentiality.  


We are not happy to have an obligation to an applicant to deliver materials to them that they have no reason to have.  They already have it, so the only reason they would want to have our copies is either to have a lever over us or to see our notes.  There's no reason for this, and what they have asked for is inappropriate.  


Those are our submissions. 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Dingwall, do you have any submissions on this point?


MR. DINGWALL:  I've just got one point, and that's the differentiation between the two documents Mr. Rodger is referring to.  One is a 5-year business plan.  I don't see that as anything different than what's normally filed in the course of a rate case, and usually does not contain confidential information.  If it is confidential, it's confidential in the ordinary course of a rate case and it doesn't require any special protection.  


The other document Mr. Rodger is referring to is financial information from the year 2005, which will be the subject of future reporting for securities purposes.  Under securities law, that would substantiate a claim that that information might be restricted in the form of insider information, but then that's quite different form the treatment of information in a rate case.  


The individuals receiving that information become insiders in the context of securities law and have an obligation to not use that information in any fashion that might be in breach of securities law.  But insider information is something that has a time limit on it.  It ceases to become insider information when it becomes public information.  


It's anticipated that, given the timing of the rate case and the potential timing of the decision of the rate case, that the whole question of insider information will likely become moot as that information will be released at some point in the next few months.  So that information will cease to become confidential.  It's only the time period between now and the release of that information that that information requires any special treatment in and above the confidentiality treatment that the Board has in place for other filings within rate cases.  


Those are my submissions. 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. DeVellis?


MR. DEVELLIS:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  VECC agrees with Mr. Sheppard and Mr. Warren.  I would only add one other point.  There is a larger issue here in that the applicant has been ordered to provide this information.  It has raised the confidentiality issue, but it shouldn't then be allowed to dictate the terms upon which the information will be provided to the intervenors.  


We believe that the Board is in a better position to fashion a disclosure or confidentiality agreement that balances the company's interest for confidentiality with the intervenors’ interests to not have onerous terms placed on them.  We think that the Board's form is more balanced and that that is the form that should be used. 


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Ms. Band, do you have any submissions on this?


MS. BAND:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  My own view is that undertakings as to confidentiality are given as part of the Board's regulatory process and it's appropriate for the Board to control that process, including stipulating the terms of the undertaking, and including that the undertaking be given to the Board rather than to another party.  I do also think that it is appropriate to allow, relative to what's on the Board's form of undertaking that was circulated this morning, to allow destruction of the confidential information in lieu of return of that information, provided that a certificate of destruction is provided to the Board to that effect.  


Those are my submissions, Mr. Chair.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rodger?


MR. RODGER:  Let me just start by clarifying.  Contrary to what Mr. Shepherd said, I did not say that Schools would breach confidentiality.  I cited Schools as an example of a public agency that could be subject to freedom of information.  So it was used as a --


MR. KAISER:  I think he drew that from your comment, “the type of intervenor they are.”  I thought he –- 


MR. RODGER:   I wanted to clarify that. 


MR. KAISER:  I'm sure he didn't mean that.  


MR. RODGER:  In terms of the Board's undertaking, paragraph 3, and our paragraph 5, it still seems to me that my friends are saying they oppose both.  Both in the Board’s paragraph 3 and our paragraph 5 is this issue of returning notes, returning notes surrounding the confidential material.  As I said at the outset, and Ms. Band underscored this, we're prepared to accept a certificate that the notes are simply destroyed at the end of the proceeding.  So it seems to me that that's an issue, regardless of which approach is chosen.


Mr. Dingwall talked about the audited financial statements, the confidential information having a time line, and we agree with that.  But we think it is a different story with the business plan.  That goes out to 2010, and there is forward-looking type financial information in those materials.  So that's, in our view, a different situation than something that is going to be released to the public in a matter of a couple of a months hence.  


Now, at this point, I don't have instructions to erode what my client thinks is required in its agreement.  So I'm not sure how to proceed next. 


MR. KAISER:  Well, why don't we do this, because we need to resolve this to move on.  We'll give you some time to get instructions, we'll take a break.  


Let me just point out, the difference between your paragraph 5 and Board paragraph 3 is essentially who the documents get returned to.  Your documents make it returned to Toronto Hydro, in the Board's document they get returned to the Board Secretary.  I think that's the only difference.  


Does that trouble you, that they come back to the Board and a certificate of destruction, or whatever Ms. Band called it, is provided?


MR. RODGER:  No, that’s fine.  We’re happy simply with the certificate of destruction.  


But if I could have a few minutes -- 


MR. KAISER:  And when you go and talk to Mr. O'Brien, do it with this my understanding.  I think the Board is of the view that the Board is in control of this procedure, should be in control of this procedure, should be the party that's enforcing the document, should be a party to the document as opposed to having private damage claims for injunction and other relief.  This form seems to have worked.  There's apparently no examples of malfeasance or breaches of it, and unless there is good reason to the contrary, just as a matter of practice, we would like to stay with the Board form if we could.  


So if you could urge that on your client that would be helpful. 


MR. RODGER:  One clarification, just the last exchange you had with one of my friends in terms of returning the information.  In light of the years that the business plan goes out, would you be requesting the confirmation of destruction or return of the notes at the end of this proceeding?


MR. KAISER:  That is a good question, and that's why I raised it with respect to Mr. Shepherd.  That is, to my mind, the life here in the nature to the length of some of these documents and this 2006 proceeding.  So I'll ask all counsel to address this.  But the one issue in this, as I've heard and what troubles me, is this concept that we can get documents in for this proceeding, which I would argue is the intent of paragraph 3 of the Board document, and Mr. Shepherd's position is we can put them on the shelf for future cases.  I don't know what the intent of the Board's document is and I'll ask Board counsel to address it.  


Mr. Shepherd, as I understand his submissions, gives somewhat latitude to these words “upon request” at the end of the sentence.  I didn't read it as being that expansive.  Is it intended that the documents produced in the confidential section would be returned to the Board Secretary, pursuant to the order or declaration at the end of this proceeding?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes Mr. Chair.  There is some ambiguity, I suppose, in paragraph 3.  It's not clear if the Board will actually request it or not.  But it's our position that this undertaking applies to this proceeding and we would intend to request the return of the documents or their destruction at the end of this proceeding.  And if the same document has to be produced for 2007 or 2008, then we would go through the same procedure again.
     MR. KAISER:  All right.

Mr. Shepherd?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, the reason this comes up is because in the recent Enbridge case, there was a circumstance in which a document from a prior proceeding was filed in the current proceeding but with changes that were not marked.  It was a past document, but somebody went into the word processor and made some changes --
     MR. KAISER:  A past confidential document?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And the only reason we knew that is because there were parties that had a copy of the old document that they could compare to and say, Wait a second, where's this provision?  Obviously, the Board can do that too.  Obviously, if we need the business plan, for example, in the next rate case, we can come to the Board and say, You have my copy of the 2006 business plan from the last case.  It has my notes it on.  Can I have it for this case, please?  And there's no reason why the Board wouldn't give it back to me if it’s going to be ordered in that case anyway.  That would be a perfectly good solution.  

The other possibility is that the Board would say, We understand that this particular document may be needed in future cases, so we're happy, as long as you maintain confidentiality, for you to keep it until it no longer has any value.  

But our point, I think, is that the Board should decide that when it has the document in front of it, when it's seen how it was used in the proceeding, and when it knows whether it has relevance in the future.  That's the appropriate time for the Board to decide that, failing which, I agree with Mr. Millar, that everything should just be returned to the Board.
     MR. KAISER:  Well, this question of whether it has relevance in the future is, no doubt, going to be troubling to the applicant.  But as I -- I'm going to ask Board Counsel to clarify his position.  I thought what I heard him say, for the purpose of this case, that he was prepared the destroy -- to request return of all documents and destroy them at the end of this case.  

Is that correct?
     MR. MILLAR:  That's what we would be requesting.
     MR. KAISER:  You were not contemplating holding on to them for a future proceeding.
     MR. MILLAR:  Well, not the individual copies.  However, Mr. Chair, we do keep one copy on the Board's record in a confidential area.  So the document will still be in the Board's files.  One copy will be kept.  And that might address Mr. Shepherd's concern.  For example, if there was some suspicion that a document had been altered from a previous year, we do have a copy and I guess we would to have make some additional confidentiality arrangements, but it could conceivably be reviewed by a party to ensure that the document is the same, or Board Staff could review it.
     MR. KAISER:  I understand.
     MR. MILLAR:  But I should add, I don't believe it's our practice when documents are returned.  I think the Board just destroys them.  I don’t think we keep everyone’s set.
     MR. KAISER:  You issue some form of certificate to the applicant?
     MR. MILLAR:  I would have to check on that, Mr. Chair.
     MR. KAISER:  In any event, you can, as I understood from Ms. Band that that's possible.
     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.
     MR. RODGER:  I’ll get some instructions, but that certainly would go a long way, I think, to satisfy Toronto Hydro.  

Just before we have a brief break, I'm wondering, sir, if you can give us some direction on practically how you see this in-camera session unfolding in terms of transcripts and in terms of how the issues from that in camera hearing might be dealt with in final argument.  I'm wondering if that's something that --
     MR. KAISER:  I'll let Ms. Band address that.  She's more knowledgeable than I am.
     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, maybe I can assist.  I’ve actually had a little bit of experience with this from Enbridge.  

What will happen is when we go in camera, first of all, we'll advise the gentleman in the back room who deals with the transcripts and with the on-air broadcast, the on-air broadcast will go off, the door will be closed.  We will ensure that only people here who have signed the confidentiality agreements are actually in the room.  

And with regard to the transcript, normally -- I can't recall his name, but the gentleman who distributes the transcripts is only permitted to give out hard copies of the confidential transcripts to people who have signed the undertakings, whereas normally he would send them out by e-mail.  And I understand the intervenors would like to get permission from the Board that the transcripts be e-mailed to them.  It’s much easier that way; they get them a lot earlier.  

And how that would work, I would propose, is I will have the list of people who have signed the undertaking, I will provide it to that gentleman, and then he can e-mail the transcripts to those people.

MR. KAISER:  Maybe you should do the e-mailing.
     MR. MILLAR:  He could e-mail it to me and then I could e-mail it out.  We could work something like that, Mr. Chair.  I should stress there would be two separate transcripts; there would be a public version which would be distributed normally but it would have a large gap in the middle where we are in camera, and then there would be a second complete version of the transcript.
     MR. KAISER:  The public version would presumably just have “Good morning” on it.
     MR. MILLAR:  Well, it depends -- if we’re doing it in the afternoon, for example, it would say “Good afternoon”.   But you're right, it would be a small one.
     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Chairman, I can advise you from the Enbridge case, what transpired is that every night we got 

if we were signatories to the confidentiality agreement, is that we got a redacted form of the transcript which had “Good morning” and any pleasantries that may have been added to it, and then we got an unredacted form which was in confidence.  At the end of the Enbridge proceeding, our practice, for what its worth, is that we took all of the confidential material, including our notes, and the unredacted transcripts and we destroyed them.  And I sent a letter to the lawyers who were concerned about it, saying it's been destroyed.  

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I do note that in the Board's form of the undertaking, it includes transcripts as confidential information, so they would have to same treatment as documents or notes or something like that.
     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, I think we'll take – will 20 minutes be enough?
     MR. RODGER:  That should be fine, sir.
     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Come back in 20 minutes.


--- Recess taken at 10:10 a.m.  


--- On resuming at 10:28 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Rodger?   


MR. RODGER:   Thank you Mr. Chairman.


I do have instructions from my client.  Toronto Hydro Corporation and Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited will accept the Board's declaration and undertaking with the following two amendments, both pertaining to paragraph 3.  And our proposed amendment would read as follows:  

“I will personally deliver to the Board Secretary at the end of the proceeding,” - and in brackets – “(to the effect of defined as after the decision in this application is rendered and after the appeal period is expired) - we can work on the language but that's the thrust -”

And then it continues”

“all confidential information provided to me and any notes taken by me with respect to the confidential information.”


So we're deleting the words “based on the Board's request” and that's to reflect the intention that Mr. Millar indicated to have the materials returned and destroyed after the hearing.


And just a point that, perhaps, I didn't make earlier.  Again, why we think it's important materials and notes should be returned at the end of this proceeding, is that some of the information that will be disclosed dealing with the individual unregulated affiliated companies is financial information that will never be disclosed publicly.  It's never the intent of the corporation to do that at some point, so the information that will be presented here will not be, at any point, publicly available.


We also think it would be helpful, in terms of the confidential transcripts, that electronic versions be sent to the signatories of the undertaking through secure password protected PDF format.  I'm advised by Toronto Hydro they do this all the time.  If it would be of assistance to the Board, Toronto Hydro is happy to take it on.  We think that's important.  


And finally, Toronto Hydro and THESL would like its confidentiality undertaking entered as an exhibit in this proceeding, just so we have a record that the company believes the approach that is put forward is recorded appropriately.  


And those are our submissions, sir.  


MR. KAISER:  Any comments Mr. Shepherd, Mr. Warren?


MR. SHEPHERD: I have two comments, Mr. Chairman.  The first is, I understand my friends submissions with respect to the amendments with respect to paragraph 3, I'm assuming that he's also accepting the addition Ms. Band suggested of allowing for destruction and certification, which I think he agreed to already.  


However, correct me if I'm wrong, Mr. Chairman, but because the undertaking is to the Board, if we can demonstrate there are circumstances that require, for example, retention of our confidential information, our copy of it, we can make submissions at the time we deliver it to that effect.  Or if our view is, and we can substantiate it, in that things that we received in confidence are no longer confidential, the 2005 financials for example, that we can ask the Board to relieve us of the undertaking because it's no longer confidential.  


Those are just two examples, that it seems to me are inherent to the Board's jurisdiction.  I'm not saying we're going to do that, all I'm saying is that I would not like to lose flexibility simply because there is a change of wording.


The second comment -- and just on the amendments, I am concerned about the schedule for this hearing, because now we are going to amend the document, and I'm concerned we still have to sign the undertaking, get the confidential information and deal with it in the hearing.  And I'm concerned that this may extent the hearing if this is not done quickly.


Our second comment is with respect to the transcripts.  I'm aware of what secure PDF format is, and unfortunately one of the problems is that it's not searchable.  Well, it's not searchable in the same way as Word documents are.  And so unless my friend has a particular reason why that format should be used, it would seem to me that the document format is not relevant to whether the documents are confidential, and the most convenient format is the appropriate one to employ.  


Those are our submissions.  


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  Just two observations, both in the nature of selfish ones.  It really is more convenient if we build in what Ms. Band has suggested, which is the destruction of the documents rather than having to bundle them up and ship them to the Board.  I'm not sure much turns on that.   It would be easier if we could provide a certificate of destruction.  


And I would only add that the system used now in three Enbridge cases whereby the redacted and unredacted forms of the transcript were transmitted from the office across the hall has worked.  We have had no breaches of confidentiality.  And if it has worked, and there is no reason to think it won't work, then I agree with Mr. Shepherd that that is the format that should be followed.  


With respect to timing, if we can agree on the wording, I'm wondering if my friend Mr. Rodger will accept my undertaking orally on the record that if he gives me the stuff now I will sign the form of undertaking so I can go and read it.  


MR. KAISER:  Any other parties have any comments?  Mr. DeVellis?  Mr. Dingwall?  Mr. Rodger?


MR. RODGER:  Just to respond.  We would like clause 3 to stay as I've described it, so the expectation would be that all parties receiving the confidential information and their notes would actually return it to Mr. Millar, return it to the Board, and then the Board would take the step of destroying the material.  


Secondly, the password PDF version is simply a security precaution.  I'm advised by Toronto Hydro that it is simple to do, and the concern of course is that, as we all know, with electronic documents they can be hacked into.  There could be a breach.  And why take a chance if we don't have to, with a simple process? 


And thirdly, for timing, I talked briefly about this with Mr. Millar.  I believe it's Board Staff's view that they could turn around an iteration of this document very quickly.  We've got the confidential materials here now, so I don't think in terms of delays that will happen.  I'm assuming, with Mr. Millar, that this could all be wrapped up very, very quickly this morning, and the parties will have their materials. 


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, if we are agreed to the wording, we could turn it around in 5 to 10 minutes, I would think.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.  The Panel anticipated, as it turns out, your submissions, Mr. Rodger, and we agree.  


The paragraph we were going to put in, and I don't think much turns on the exact wording, but it captures, I think, what Mr. Rodger was looking for.  And that would be a new paragraph 4 which would say:  

“I understand that upon receipt, all confidential information will be destroyed the by Board Secretary, and a certificate of destruction will be delivered to the applicant.” 

So to deal with that issue so it's clear.  


Then if you could - and Mr. Rodger wants this as an exhibit, which is fine, but just so it is clear - on the heading, style of cause, declaration and undertaking with respect to the application of Toronto Hydro et cetera, et cetera.  Just make that a little bit clearer in terms of the style of cause.


Next as to the distribution of these transcripts.  I have to tell you that it’s the Panels view that they should not be sent out electronically.  We just think that raises too great a risk and it's not necessary.  We'll be talking of less than one day's evidence.  We can live with a hard copy for half a day's evidence.  So rather than tinker with passwords and security codes and encryption algorithms and everything else, I think we'll stick with the tried and true method.  We will distribute hard copies only and you'll keep, of course, in the file a record of everyone who received a hard copy, and they will sign for a hard copy.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I guess, I thought you were finished.  I've spoken with the court reporter's office about this, and they have indicated that they can still give us an electronic copy in the form of a memory stick or a disk.  So it is physically delivered to us so don’t have the problem of it going through the e-mail.  And they can do that in a very timely manner.  


So the security risk would be gone, because we would have it physically in our possession.  It certainly would be more convenient for the parties if we had an electronic version. 


MR. KAISER:  I understand that, but for purpose of – we are only talking about one transcript.  We are not talking about the entire case.  And you know, you can raise, that we can put it on our memory stick -- I don't know, I'm not in a position to assess that argument right now because I don't know enough about the technology and the security aspects of it.  But I do understand in my simple mind what happens when you have a hard copy, that's what's protected.  


So I think it's the Panel’s unanimous view that, given that we have had a recent case on this, given that there are some issues, we understand the issues of the applicant, the concerns of the applicant, we're sensitive to them.  We want to move this case forward.  We're going to stick with hard copies.  We may be not as technically savvy as we should be, but at least it's something we understand.


Then as to the scheduling, I appreciate your offer, Mr. Millar.  I'm sure Ms. Band could turn this around in a matter of minutes.  


MR. MILLAR:  I shouldn’t have spoken for her.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Rodger has the material here.  He'll deliver it as soon as he gets signed copies.  So everyone, when they leave at lunch, should have the material.


Where we left off last day, as I recall, was Mr. Shepherd was examining this panel.  Is that right?


MR. RODGER:  That's correct, sir.  I think the only final administrative matter is if we could give Toronto Hydro's proposed confidentiality undertaking an exhibit number, I think we can proceed with Mr. Shepherd.  


MR. KAISER:  Yes, and Ms. Band points out that the changes I recommended, you'll delete the words upon the Board request.  


MR. MILLAR:   Yes, thank you Mr. Chair. 


MR. KAISER:  If you didn't capture that. 


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I’m sorry, just one final – Mr. Rodger asked that the confidentiality undertaking be given an exhibit number.  That will be exhibit K6.1. 

EXHIBIT NO. K6.1:  TORONTO HYDRO PROPOSED CONFIDENTIALITY UNDERTAKING.


MR. RODGER:  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  


MR. KAISER:  Make sure Mr. Rodger gets a copy of all the signed undertakings.  I presume you'll keep a copy. 


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I guess we can make a copy for Mr. Rodger. 


MR. DINGWALL:  Is K6.1 the Board's copy or Toronto Hydro’s?


MR. MILLAR:   No, the Toronto Hydro document.  And I don't think we need to –- 


MR. KAISER:  I think you meant the Board's copy. 


MR. MILLAR:  I thought Mr. Rodger was asking that we enter Toronto Hydro’s. 


MR. RODGER:  Yes, Toronto Hydro’s copy. 


MR. KAISER:  What, just in case we all decide to go into commercial practice?   


MR. RODGER:  One never knows.  

MR. KAISER:  The witnesses are still sworn.  

Ready to proceed, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you very much.  

TORONTO HYDRO CORPORATION - PANEL 2; RESUMED:  

J.S. Couillard; Previously sworn.

James Cochrane; Previously sworn.

Pankaj Sardana; Previously sworn.

Richard Zebrowski; Previously sworn.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I could get the witnesses to turn up the response to Undertaking J3.2.  This is the DBRS's Standard & Poors rating reports.
     MR. SARDANA:  Got it.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  On the -- I guess what looks to me to be the third page of this package of reports, the one headed up “Credit Rating Report, Report Date May 3, 2005 DBRS.”  Do you have that?
     MR. SARDANA:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Does the Board have that material?

MS. SPOEL:  Which exhibit is it?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  J3.2.  This was material I think delivered on Tuesday, if I'm not mistaken, or perhaps Monday.
     MR. KAISER:  Do you have any copies of that, by chance?
     MR. MILLAR:  I don't believe I do, Mr. Chair.  I'm sorry.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Would the Panel be happier if I proceeded to something else in the short term?
     MR. KAISER:  I think we have it, if you'll just give us a second.  This is the credit-rating report?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  And the first one I'm looking at is the DBRS for May 3rd, 2005.  

Mr. Sardana, this is your material?

MR. SARDANA:  I can --
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You're the one answering questions on this?

MR. SARDANA:  Sure.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  This May 3, 2005, this is the latest DBRS on Toronto Hydro?
     MR. SARDANA:  It's the latest full credit-rating report, that's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Is there -– are there more reports that have been filed since then?
     MR. SARDANA:  Not reports.  There might have been a present released issued by DBRS and Standard & Poors, but not a full report.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So there's nothing more that the Board needs to understand their current thinking on Toronto Hydro. 
     MR. SARDANA:  I believe this is DBRS’s last comprehensive review of Toronto Hydro, so it still stands, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is the one in which they upgraded you from “A low” back to “A” on your senior debentures; right?
     MR. SARDANA:  That's right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you don't have any debentures outstanding, do you?
     MR. SARDANA:  Yes, we do.  We have a 10-year note, a $225 million note that is out to May of 2013.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And who holds that?
     MR. SARDANA:  The public.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  This is your public issue.  What rate is that?
     MR. SARDANA:  Well, it shows up right on this report.  The senior unsecured debentures are rated “A” now.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  No, sorry, the interest rate on them.
     MR. SARDANA:  The interest rate is 6.11 percent out to the public.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And that was issued when?
     MR. SARDANA:  May 7, 2003.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And that's at the same time as you issued the 6.8 percent to the city; right?
     MR. SARDANA:  No, that's, strictly speaking, not correct.  This goes back to the old deeming.  What basically happened was the 6.8 percent debt was at the LDC level.  Because our credit rating was at the corporate level, there was a need to have all these debt instruments ranked equally or, in the parlance, pari passu.  So there was a need to move the LDC note up to the corporate level and for the corporation to then issue a replacement note with the city for the same amount.  So it was just the same 6.8 percent note that got transferred up.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So the 6.8 percent note comes from a prior time, from 2001?
     MR. SARDANA:  It was when we first went through the capitalization and setting up of Toronto Hydro as an OBCA company.  I believe it was 1999.  That’s right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you didn't actually transfer the note upstream; right?  You actually issued a new note from the parent company.
     MR. SARDANA:  It was a replacement note, but it had to be the same note.  The city had to be kept held harmless; the LDC had to be held harmless.  So it was the same note that just got moved up mechanically.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well --
     MR. SARDANA:  To answer your question, yes, it's a new note but with the same terms and conditions as the prior note.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  We’ll come back to the note in a second.  

So, in this DBRS rating, what happened, as I understand it, is that in 2003, DBRS said, We're going to downgrade you from “A stable” to “A low” because there's been this mess in restructuring of the electricity sector and you're not going to get your third tranche yet.  You're not going to get your full rate of return, and so we’re a little nervous about the regulatory risk and we're going to downgrade you.  Right?  That was, in essence, what they did in 2003.
     MR. SARDANA:  Yes, but I don't think they went right out and said it’s because you're not going to get something.  I think what they said was that, It's our view now that there's a great deal of regulatory and political uncertainty that has entered the market.  They would never go out and say, We're doing this because you are not going to get something.  They took their actions because they felt that the environment had changed for Toronto Hydro's financial fundamentals and that's why it was down.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I thought that was actually a set-up question, Mr. Sardana.  

Will you go two pages previous to the January 31, 2003 press release of DBRS, the first page of the IR -- of the undertaking materials.  Do you have that?
     MR. SARDANA:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And there at the bottom they say why they downgraded.  They downgraded because you have a cap on your distribution rates, because your ROE is going to remain at 6.6 instead of going up as they expected it to, and because of this, you're not going to be able to recover any increasing costs or rate base.  That was the reason; right?
     MR. SARDANA:  Well, if you read sub B on that, “continued uncertainty surrounding the recovery”.  It doesn't say “certainty”.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  That was exactly the point.  They downgraded you because of regulatory uncertainty.
     MR. SARDANA:  Yes, because of regulatory uncertainty.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And in 2005, they brought you back up because they said there's a more stable outlook for the regulatory environment going forward; right?  That was the whole point.
     MR. SARDANA:  That was their view at the time, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And they did that despite the fact that they expected your earnings before interest and taxes to go down substantially; right?
     MR. SARDANA:  I'm not sure I understand that.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, look at that page in the rating update, at the last paragraph, they say your EBIT is expected to decline but they’re still increasing your rating; right?
     MR. SARDANA:  Right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  If you could turn to page 4 of that rating report, they describe what they expect is going to happen and they say -- they say, “Your EBIT increased in 2003 because of rate increases through restructuring.”  That's your addition of your first two tranches; right?
     MR. SARDANA:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And also because your operating and maintenance costs were being reduced because of amalgamation; right?
     MR. SARDANA:  That goes into their method, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And their outlook is that in 2005 you're going to end up with an EBIT ^ of 190 to $200 million.
     MR. SARDANA:  Again, that was their view at the time.  They may have a different view today.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you agreed with that at the time.  That's what you thought, too, right, that 190 to $200 million was the right range?
     MR. SARDANA:  Again, it's not a matter of whether we agreed with them or not.  We confirmed what they had done with them.  This is not a case where it's open to discussion.  They take this to their own rating committee and say this is their view on the company given what the company has provided them in terms of forecasts or discussions, and then they run that through their own models.  The pro forma that they might do are their own models, they aren’t ours. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  But internally, in April and May of last year, you also thought your EBIT would be $190 to $200 million; right?


MR. SARDANA:  That's right.  Based on this, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you go to -– and this is about halfway through this pile of stuff, and the pages unfortunately, at least the ones I got, are not numbered.  But about halfway through there is a Standard & Poors Canadian ratings dated July 8th, 2005.  Do you see that, 10-page document?   


MR. SARDANA:  What was the date on that?


MR. SHEPHERD:  July 8th 2005, Standard & Poors Canadian ratings, July 8th 2005, Toronto Hydro Corp.  


MR. SARDANA:  Okay. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I just want to ask you a couple of questions about this.  I'm going to get to the promissory note in a second, but if you see on the first page here, you see in that first paragraph they talk about debt maturities for the 908 million in 2005 and 2006.  And this is because the City was allowed to call portions of the debt; right?


MR. SARDANA:  The City had that right, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Still does?


MR. SARDANA:  Still does. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It also refers to maturity of the note in 2013.  Now, is that currently the case, that this note has been extended from 2008 to 2013?


MR. SARDANA:  It is not currently the case, no.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  So they were wrong, then. 


MR. SARDANA:  No, they were not wrong.  The City has the right to extend, it has not chosen to do so to date.  It may tomorrow, it may the day after, but it is not the case today. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  If you go to the next page, and this is a rating in which they are maintaining your A minus, stable rating; right?


MR. SARDANA:  That's right. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the next page around -- you see the paragraph that starts out “regulatory determinations, et cetera.”  It is halfway down the page.  It’s page 2.


MR. SARDANA:  Yes.  We've got it. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm reading from that paragraph, midway through the paragraph it says: 

“The extent to which lower deemed ROE and debt costs flowing from lower bond rates will offset expected higher case flows from increased operating cost allowances and returns on a higher rate base, determines whether expected improvements in cash flows are sustainable.”


I take it that I'm correct in understanding that they are thinking, Well, your ROE is going to down and your debt rate going to down because bond rates are lower. 


MR. SARDANA:  I think at that time, the thinking was that the debt -- when the debt cost rate is adjusted to reflect bond rates at that time, that the Rate Handbook would also adjust the debt cost rate on the deemed legacy debt.  That did not happen.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is dated July, 2005. 


MR. SARDANA:  Right.  And they did not --


MR. SHEPHERD:  The Rate Handbook was out. 


MR. SARDANA:  That's right.  I can only surmise that S&P had not read the Rate Handbook at that time or run through the mechanical calculations.  In fact, it took us a few days to realize that that was not the case, because we to run through the schedule in the Handbook. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  They go on to say that your interest coverage ratios, the two that matter, are going to be above 2004 in their estimation.  Do you see that?


MR. SARDANA:  I see that. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's still expected to be the case?


MR. SARDANA:  Again, we haven't seen our final audited numbers.  My colleague, Mr. Cochrane, has not likely had a chance to run through those calculations yet, but we'll be doing that very shortly. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  That, in fact, is not including recovery of regulatory assets; right?  They are saying, You are going to have great interest coverage and debt-load coverage ratios in 2005 and 2006, plus you are going to get $15 to $30 million of regulatory asset recoveries.  Isn’t that what they are saying?


MR. SARDANA:  Excuse me for one second.  That's right. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I just want to -- at this time, when they do this rating they come and talk to you; right?


MR. SARDANA:  Typically what happens is we have an annual review, you know, late winter, early spring type time frame.  They go through our financials, they go through our business case or whatever we present them with as our then outlook on the company, and then essentially they go away.  What they then do is follow up some statistical information that they may need on through-put and customer classes, et cetera, which takes about a two-month period.  And then they write a report, take it to committee and release their results.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  So is it --


MR. SARDANA:  So, sorry Mr. Shepherd, the latest report from S&P would have been January, February information.  S&P last time around had, according to them, their plate pretty full.  They never released our report for a good four, five months after.  So a lot of things could have changed, as you just mentioned.  The Rate Handbook had come out then, but when we sat down with them the Handbook had not been released yet. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So during the course of your discussions, you must have talked about what you expected the interest rates to be, your debt rates. 


MR. SARDANA:  No, we didn't talk specifically and debt rates.  We talked, in general terms, about the regulatory process and where we thought it was going at the time. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So where we they get the conclusion that you would have lower debt costs flowing from lower bond rates?  Where would they get that? 


MR. SARDANA:  Again, it was through discussions about where we thought the Rate Handbook was going.  You can appreciate that we had been drafts of the Handbook, and one of our staff members was on the working groups.  And in discussions with Mr. Zebrowski and that person we figured that was where the Handbook was going.  


Now, I should also add that they are quite aware of the regulatory process.  Some of their analysts have been old Ontario Hydro people, and they know how this whole process works.  So I think they can do their own math on the whole thing. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  I see.  If you can just turn to the next page, at the top, you see in the first full paragraph they talk about the most important thing that weakens your position, and that is your unregulated business activities, which are higher risk.  And this is the main reason why you don't have a higher rating, isn't it?   


MR. SARDANA:  It's not the main reason, no.  I think if you read the report in its totality, the tone of the report will clearly state that we're as a company -- the company as a whole is not as strong as other companies in the sector or compared with other utilities.  So the energy trading business weakens us, yes, but it's not the main reason at all.  


In fact, because we've mentioned to them that we are exiting their retailing business, they are waiting for that to happen and they are seeing that as a positive of the company. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, now they are actually not talking about that in any way as a positive.  In fact, I'm reading the rest of this paragraph, tell me if I'm wrong, it looks to me like they are saying -- by the way, they are not talking about energy trading, they are talking about your retailing business, specifically about the THESI. 


MR. SARDANA:  Right.  Just to clarify, Mr. Shepherd, it is one in the same thing in their minds, trading and retailing. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because retailing exposes you to commodity price risk?


MR. SARDANA:  That's right. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And what they say is, You said you are going to phase this out, but until do you it's going to have a negative influence on your rating.  Isn’t that what they have said?


MR. SARDANA:  I think what they are saying is it is one of the things, when they add it into their full metric of the company, that tends to keep us at a lower rating, no question.  But it's not the main thing. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  


MR. SARDANA:  In fact, my colleague has just pointed out.  If I take you to page 1 of 10 of that report, I think it's important to not ignore the major rating factors       that are listed in terms of strengths and weaknesses.  I think you have to look at all of those things. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Just two other things on this -- three other things on this report then I'll leave it alone.  


They note here on that same page 3, under the heading “liquidity” in the second paragraph, they talk about the fact that you extended your bank facility.  You have a $500 million bank facility?


MR. SARDANA:  That's right. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you using that, by the way?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, it’s being used for letters of credit, for credentials, et cetera.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, there's a reference interest rate on that bank facility, isn't there?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  How do you mean, “a reference interest rate”?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't actually borrow on it, but the bank facility is established with certain interest rates built into it; right?
     MR. SARDANA:  That's right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  In May 2005, did those rates go down when you extended?
     MR. SARDANA:  No.  Actually, in May 2005 -– pardon me, yes, in May 2005 they went down.  In May 2006, however, they are forecast to go up -- not forecast.  They are going to go up again.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Is there any reason why you can't tell us what those interest rates are?
     MR. SARDANA:  That’s right.  It’s proprietary information.  It’s commercially sensitive.  It’s a bank line that is with our syndicate of banks.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  And this is -– you can borrow on this on a short-term basis or on a long-term basis; right?

MR. SARDANA:  On a short-term basis.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  It’s all short term.
     MR. SARDANA:  It's a short-term line, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you could use it for working capital, for example.
     MR. SARDANA:  It is intended to be used as a working capital facility.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, smooth out the cash flow of the company.
     MR. SARDANA:  As needed, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So I'm going to ask you to undertake to advise the interest rate for 2005 in this 2005 change and after, and what the change is going to be in 2006.  And I understand that you'll want that to be a confidential undertaking response, but I think it would be useful to the Board to understand the context of your interest rates.
     MR. SARDANA:  I would to have check on the confidentiality with counsel, but at this point, yes.
     MR. MILLAR:  So, will that be a confidential undertaking, Mr. Chair?
     MR. KAISER:  Any objections, Mr. Rodger? 

MR. RODGER:  We'll treat it as a confidential undertaking, and perhaps it’s something we can deal with tomorrow in the in-camera session.
     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.
     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, that will be marked –- we add an “X” for confidential undertakings, so JX6.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. JX6.1:  TO PROVIDE THE INTEREST RATE

OF THE BANK FACILITY FOR 2005 AND WHAT THE CHANGE WILL BE FOR 2006 (CONFIDENTIAL)

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you can go down that page, Mr.
Sardana, to the heading “Outlook”.  Am I right in assuming that the thing that they like about the situation in 2005 is not so much that you're making more money, it's that there's more stability.  What they want to see is less uncertainty, more stability.  They want your cash flows and your financial coverage ratios to be stable and predictable.
     MR. SARDANA:  I think you need to look at the preface of that sentence, or it’s not quite the preface but the lead-up into that sentence.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. SARDANA:  Where they say:

“Although still uncertain, the regulatory regime in Ontario points to greater stability.”

“Although still uncertain,” I guess there’s some wording that’s lacking there.  It's the regulatory regime that they are pointing to; that they are taking some comfort now that the volatility prior to Bill 210 is not there so much any more, and that is leading to more predictable and stable cash flows.  So let's put it in context.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And just the last point on this.  I wonder if you can go to the next page, page 4, under the heading “Business Profile Regulation”.
     MR. SARDANA:  Right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  The one thing I noted here is that they say halfway through that paragraph, they’re expecting the ROE of 9.88 percent to go down, and that it’s likely to go down - this was in April they were thinking this - to 9.  But they also say that they expect the equity risk premium of 380 basis points not to change.  Do you understand why that would be the case, why they would expect that?
     MR. SARDANA:  No, Mr. Shepherd.  As I mentioned, this is their view.  We don't discuss the mechanics of this ROE.  If they’re reading off the handbook at the time, and if they had read it – you know, I'm speculating – but it's not, you know, that we sat down with the analyst and said, Here’s what’s happening, guys.  It's their reading of this whole regulatory framework.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  But I thought you said that this must have been done without reading the handbook.
     MR. SARDANA:  Well, again, I said it may have been done without them reading the handbook, but, you know -– and keep in mind, this is the same analytical team that does Hydro One, that rates Ottawa Hydro and that rates some of the other jurisdictions.  It’s not just ourselves.  So they may be picking this up from others.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  So you don't know why they would then expect the equity risk premium to remain unchanged.
     MR. SARDANA:  No.  I can tell you very clearly we have -- I have never had that discussion with them, about the equity risk premium.  I would love to have that discussion with them.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  It's true, isn’t it, that nowhere in their report have they expressed any concern that that fixed equity risk premium creates a problem, have they?
     MR. SARDANA:  No.  I think what they pointed to is the low ROE.  I think if you look at the first part of that paragraph, it says quite clearly, “However, if regulator returns are low.”  So they are pointing to the ROE metric as a whole, and then they go on to describe some of the nuances of that metric, but ...
     MR. SHEPHERD:  They maintained the rating.
     MR. SARDANA:  They maintained the rating last year.  Now, this is a new year.  In fact, as soon as this process is over and done with, that's our next task.  We've to go sit down with them, so ...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then the next thing I would like to ask you about, following along the capital theme, is Undertaking J4.1.  This is the promissory note to the City of Toronto.  Do you have that?

MR. SARDANA:  Yes, we've got it.  Okay.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And, Mr. Chairman, does the Panel have that?
     MR. KAISER:  Yes, we do.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  

I'm just looking at the first page of this, Mr. Sardana, and the interest rate is 6.8 percent; right?
     MR. SARDANA:  Right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And did I understand you correctly earlier that that interest rate is based on Board-approved levels but from 1999?
     MR. SARDANA:  I believe that's correct, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, if you had set it in 2003, it would have been lower; right?
     MR. SARDANA:  If the Board had asked us to reset that rate in 2003 -- I mean, I don't know what the Board would have set it at.  The market rate, I guess, at the time was 6.8 percent.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, the market rate in 2003, we already know what it was.  It was 6.11 percent, don’t we?  They issued them on the same date.
     MR. SARDANA:  I think it's important to note that they are different markets altogether.  One, in fact, is not a market.  The other one is a market-driven rate.  This one is a regulated rate.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's higher than market.
     MR. SARDANA:  Seems to be higher than market, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the higher the market at the time of the issuance of this note.
     MR. SARDANA:  Again, I don't know that for a fact.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you know what the market was on May 7th, 2003, don't you?  You issued --
     MR. SARDANA:  Hold on, Mr. Shepherd.  I know what the market was for a $225 million debenture issued to the public.  I do not know what the market rate would have been for a $980 million debenture out to the public.  It could have been at a completely different rate.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would that be?
     MR. SARDANA:  Because the Canadian market would have a very hard time absorbing $980 million in one day and the rate would have -- conceivably would have been different than 6.11 percent.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you saying, if you wanted to go out to the market today with $980 million, you couldn't sell that issue?
     MR. SARDANA:  I didn't say that.  I could sell that issue without a question.  I don't know what the rate on that issue would be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you would pay a penalty because it’s so big?
     MR. SARDANA:  No.  I said the market would have a hard time absorbing that kind of issue in one day.  I don't think we would pay a penalty necessarily, but we wouldn't, you know, know the details of that until we get into that kind of framework.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, this promissory note doesn't refer anywhere to the fact that there was a previous one that it’s replacing, does it?
     MR. SARDANA:  I'm sorry, I didn't hear you.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  This promissory note doesn't refer anywhere to the fact that there was a previous one that it's replacing, does it?

MR. SARDANA:  It does not.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  If you could just turn to the second page, section 3.1 of this note.
     MR. SARDANA:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  This allows the holder –- now, this says on the third anniversary date, so I assume that’s May 7th, 2006; right?
     MR. SARDANA:  Correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  On 90 days’ notice, so 90 days would be February 8th?
     MR. SARDANA:  Thereabouts, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So by February 8th, if they want to extend this, they have to tell you; right?
     MR. SARDANA:  If they decide to extend, that would be the deadline, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And if they do, they decide how long they want to extend it for, up to five years.
     MR. SARDANA:  It's up to them, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And they stipulate what repayment schedule they want.
    
MR. SARDANA:  Again, as long as the note is ranked equally with our public debentures.  So they cannot change the terms and conditions of the note upon extension.  It has to be ranked peri passu.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Where does it say that?


MR. SARDANA:  Well, I would to have find it, but it should be in this -- in the body of this note.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don’t think it is.


MR. SARDANA:  Section 2.4, ranking.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. SARDANA:  It says clearly, “and ranked equally and peri passu with all other present and future unsubordinated and unsecured obligations.” 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that doesn’t affect -- they can't rank themselves higher, but they can stipulate any repayment schedule they want. 


MR. SARDANA:  Well, I mean, if they stipulate a daily repayment schedule that would be de facto ranking themselves higher; right?  I mean, if you take it to its logical extension, if Toronto Hydro was undergoing insolvency, we would be, per the terms of that note, obligated to pay them daily which would then rank them higher than other bondholders which may have to wait for their payment; right?


MR. SHEPHERD:  So have you been advised by counsel on the legal implications of this?


MR. SARDANA:  No, I have not been advised by counsel, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So how is it that you are -- I'm wondering the level of authority of your statement that the peri passu provision means that the payment schedule can't be faster than the public notes. 


MR. KAISER:  In fact, Mr. Sardana, if you look at 3.1C, doesn't the agreement contemplate that they can at a maximum require $330 million to be paid in each year?


MR. SARDANA:  That's right. 


MR. KAISER:  So it's set out the repayment schedule.  That's as fast as they can accelerate repayment.


MR. SARDANA:  That's right.  But with that provision, the public debenture holders are aware of that provision and have signed off on that provision.  And they agreed that that still holds them harmless. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you undertake to advise the Board if this is extended, if you have received a notice to extend this?


MR. COUILLARD: Well, we have not to this day received the position of the City.  The City is currently undergoing their budget process.  I had a discussion with the City right now, and through these discussion I was advised that the City might potentially ask for an extension, but nothing is firm.  We have not seen a report, we have not seen anything yet. 


MR. KAISER:  Wouldn't it be fair to assume that the reason you filed the shell prospectus back on January 13th of this year is you contemplated there might be a need to retire a portion of this note this year?  


MR. COUILLARD:  Well –-


MR. KAISER:  I mean, in that prospectus you specifically said that one of the purposes for the funds was the possible retirement of the Toronto City note. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Chair, we filed a prospectus, and obviously in the proceeds we put that this is a possibility.  However, the cost of filing this prospectus was very little, so we tried to get ourselves ready in case there was -- so we can issue that very quickly instead of having to go through a long process.  However, we had discussions with the City when we issued the prospectus, and all along it was brought to our attention that it was not the City's intention to seek for amortization in the near future. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's because the interest rate is well above market; right?  They would be crazy to -- 


MR. COUILLARD:  I can't speculate on the City.  I think we had discussion on that with Mr. Warren previously.  One of the big concerns that we sense from the City, and once again I’m speculating, is what will be done with the proceeds.  And everybody knows there is some challenge in the political arenas, and we can all speculate on that.  However, no reason was given to us really, other than we just need more time to prepare and to try to figure out what we'll do with these proceeds. 


MR. KAISER:  When was your last board meeting?


MR. COUILLARD:  Our own board meeting?   


MR. KAISER:  Yes.


MR. COUILLARD:  November 29th. 


MR. KAISER:  Did this issue come up in the Board meeting?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yeah, it was actually discussed.  We have three city counsellors on our board meeting, and a lot of questions people were asking us was why are you filing this and what's the reason.  And the main reason, really, was, well, there is a cheap process.  So if they need it, we have it.  It's as simple as -- you know, it’s like an insurance policy.  There is not a lost cost for us to file this prospectus with -- this shelf prospectus with the OSC.  


One of the concerns of the board was, well, are we setting the interest rate.  No, we have to go back to the board for it.  So if the City was to come to us in 2007 and say, Well, we need some -- we want to monetize some of our debt.  We would need to go back to the board and once again go through the whole process.


So the only thing that the shell prospectus does is putting ourselves ready in case, and we can issue debt in a quicker fashion. 


MR. SARDANA:  If I can just add to that, Mr. Chair.  The shelf prospectus has been filed for a billion, but we can access anything up to that.  We don't have to access the full billion. 


MR. KAISER:  I know that.  I think there's increments of 10,000 or something. 


MR. SARDANA:  Something like that.  



MR. COUILLARD:  Currently, $330 million is the maximum the City could go for in one year.  There's no difference for us filing something for a billion or filing something for 300 million. 


MR. KAISER:  I understand that.  I'm just, as Mr. Shepherd, intrigued.  We know this date is coming up, the third anniversary date.  It's interesting that nobody seems to know what the City is going to do.  You would have thought with all this activity, filing a prospectus, everyone on your board is appointed by the Mayor, you have three city counsellors, you would think at this point it would be helpful in running your business to know what the City about that intended to do under this note.  


MR. COUILLARD:  To add to your comments, Mr. Chair, if I may, I would love to know what the shareholder is really intending to do.  But the indication we have right now, the conversation that I had with City CFO is that there is no plan in the near future right now to go and to monetize on this note in the near future.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, now, it's correct, isn't it -- and will accept, subject to check, by the way, that the 90-day date is February 6th.  Do you accept that, subject to check?


MR. COUILLARD:  It might be the 6th or 7th.  We know it's coming and the process will have -- in the normal City process they will have to go to city counsel.  So I would presume it would be on the agenda of the next city counsel meeting. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's true, isn’t it, that they have to give you a notice one way or the other?  They have to either give you a notice saying they are extending, with a payment schedule, or they to have give you a notice under 3.1B saying they are not extending and here's the payment schedule we want from 2006 to 2008; isn't that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  No, it is not.  They could obtain a waiver from our bondholder. 


MR. SARDANA:  They would have to go to the trustee or ask us the approach the trustee or the public bond holders to seek a waiver if they are not ready to present us a schedule.  Now – 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  This agreement, this is your promissory note with them.  It is an agreement with them, and it says in A, by February 6th they have to -- if they want to exercise the option, they have to give you notice.  And in B, it says if they don't, they have to give you a payment schedule.  Isn't that right?


MR. SARDANA:  That's what it says. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  It doesn't say they can do anything else. 


MR. SARDANA:  Correct.  But as long as they have permission from all bondholders of our public debt issue to change or amend something, they can seek that.  Whether they actually are granted that from the public debt holders is a different story.  They can certainly attempt to – particularly to the matter that Mr. Chairman is getting at.  You know, their budget process is fluid.  If they are not quite ready with something, then they may choose that as well.  We're not sure. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I'm going to again ask for an undertaking that whatever notice they provide you by February 6th, when it's received that it be filed with the Board. 


MR. MILLAR:  J6.2. 


MR. KAISER:  Do you want that in confidence, Mr. Rodger, or not?


MR. RODGER:  I think we should assume confidence at this point.  I’ll make an enquiry.  If there is an alternate answer, I'll provide the Board with that. 


MR. KAISER:  So let’s mark it.


MR. MILLAR:  JX6.2. 

UNDERTAKING JX6.2:  THAT NOTICE FROM BONDHOLDERS PROVIDED BY FEBRUARY 6 BE FILED WITH THE BOARD (CONFIDENTIAL)


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, back to page 2 of this document, because there are two other provisions I want to ask you about in this document. The first is section 2.2, which gives them a right to call for payment at any time.  They can't call for any more than $330 million in a 12-month period, but aside from that they can call any time for payment; right?


MR. SARDANA:  That's right. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is -- subject to the volume limitation, the dollar limitation, it's a demand note. 


MR. SARDANA:  It's a callable note.  It's not a demand note.  It shouldn't be viewed as a demand note, it’s a callable note. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, when the interest rate was set on this, was the interest rate set on the basis that it had a callable feature?   


MR. SARDANA:  The interest rate was, again, based on the deemed interest rate that was set in the original Handbook at the 6.8 percent, so that just carried on.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So it was not connected with what the terms of the note were.
     MR. SARDANA:  I think, Mr. Shepherd, you have to understand that had Toronto Hydro not been structured with other affiliates and, you know, a holding company structure which was necessitated by the market, really, with market opening, et cetera, this note would have stayed at THESL with the city and the terms and conditions would have carried on.  The only reason it's at the THC level is because our credit rating was at the THC level.  Our bank lines were at the THC level.  We had to move this note up in order to have it ranked equally.  So the terms and conditions of the note largely carried up as well.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Largely or totally?
     MR. SARDANA:  Well, they did.  They carried up.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Is this agreement -– is this note a duplicate of the 1999 note, or are they differences?
   MR. SARDANA:  To the best of my knowledge, there are no changes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I presume there are some; right?  The extension, for example, on the third anniversary date, was that the third anniversary date from 1999 or was that fixed?
     MR. SARDANA:  No.  That's the new note now, this current note.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So there were some changes.
     MR. SARDANA:  Changes from that perspective, yes.  But the guts of the note, the 980 million, the interest rate, the payments, et cetera, to the city, remain the same.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could undertake to provide us with the note that this replaced so that we can compare.
     MR. MILLAR:  Is that a confidential undertaking?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't think it should be.  This note is not confidential.
     MR. RODGER:  This is the original note issued at the time of restructuring between THESL and the City of Toronto?
   MR. SHEPHERD:  No, it’s the note that was replaced, whatever it was.  If it was the one from 1999, that's fine.  But I would like to see what this replaced.
     MR. MILLAR:  J6.3.
     MR. KAISER:  Is that right, Mr. Rodger?  There was only one previous note, or am I wrong?

MR. SARDANA:  Maybe I can speak for Mr. Rodger here.  No, I think the original note was a one-year term note, which was a true demand note.  It was extended again in 2000 and 2001, et cetera, again, on one-year terms, with the understanding always internally that we wanted to fix this whole capital structure of the company.  And when we were finally able to move our credit rating up -– or move our lines up and get our credit rating, et cetera, that's when this note came out.  But the genesis of the note is still the old deemed legacy debt that carried on.
     MR. KAISER:  When the note was first created, was it payment for assets that the corporation acquired from the city?

MR. SARDANA:  Yes, I believe so.  That was the –- it was pursuant to the transfer by-law that split up the company into a deemed debt and deemed equity structure.
     MR. RODGER:  Why don't I make it confidential, and if it's not, then we can release it publicly.
     MR. MILLAR:  So we'll give that an X, Mr. Chair.

UNDERTAKING NO. JX6.3:  TO PROVIDE THE ORIGINAL

PROMMISORY NOTE THAT PRECEEDED THE CURRENT PROMISSORY

NOTE (CONFIDENTIAL)
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I guess I don't understand how the current note could be okay to release publicly and the one it replaced would not be.  I don't understand how that could be.
     MR. RODGER:  I’m just saying I don't know because I haven't looked at it.  I’ll endeavour to do so.
     MR. KAISER:  I understood he was basically asking for an opportunity to consult and he'll report back after lunch.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

Before we leave this, I just have one other question on this.  It's true, isn’t it, Mr. Sardana, that one of the reasons why a holder makes a note callable is that it allows them to mark their interest rate to market if the interest rates go up; isn't that right?
     MR. SARDANA:  I think that's one of the main reasons, yes.  There are others.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so subject to the $330 million limitation, which is certainly a significant limitation - I understand that - but subject to that, what this allows the city to do is ratchet up their interest rate if the interest rates in the market go up; right?
     MR. SARDANA:  You know, I don't believe that has ever been contemplated.  I don't believe that's why it's a callable note.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You believe it's callable so that they can get cash flow, then.
     MR. SARDANA:  I think it's callable because they have a requirement made under the Municipal Act to monetize this note, and that's why they had to have a call feature put in.  I think the city also understood very clearly that if they call for the full 980 million, then it would be tough for Toronto Hydro to go out to public markets and say to the market, Here's a 980-million-pound gorilla; let's go market this.  And that was the other reason.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the last question I want to ask you is about this on the next page, page 3, section 3.2.  And I've never actually seen a provision like this.  I've seen a lot of notes but have never seen one exactly like this.  And the way I read it, it says, any time they want, and subject, of course, to any outstanding debt you already have, the city can come to you and say, We don't like this promissory note anymore; we want a debenture or a different note or something.  And the only thing that stays the same is principal.  Anything else is subject to, I suppose, negotiation because it requires mutual agreement; right?
     MR. SARDANA:  Yes, except that they would need a waiver provision as well.  Again, they can't just change it willy-nilly.  They would have to get the proper structure in place.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  If interest rates went up to 10 percent, they could come to you and say, We want a new note at 10 percent and you would to have do it; right?

MR. SARDANA:  I think if you read the first line, it says, “Subject to compliance by the issuer with its outstanding debt instruments.”
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.
     MR. SARDANA:  So, you know, if they say, We want a new note at 10 percent, that may or may not comply with the other debt instruments.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, does it or not?
     MR. SARDANA:  It doesn’t today.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  It doesn’t?  The other debt instruments don’t allow them to exercise a higher interest rate?  Because I don't believe that’s the case.
     MR. SARDANA:  I mean, I would presume they would need a waiver from the public, from the bondholders.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know that or are you just guessing?
     MR. SARDANA:  I said I presume that that’s what they’d need.  We’d have to check that, subject to check.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I’m going to ask you to undertake to provide any -- the text of any provision in any other debt instrument that would prevent them from exercising this at a higher interest rate, if that was the market.
     MR. MILLAR:  J6.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.4:  TO PROVIDE THE TEXT OF ANY

PROVISION IN ANY OTHER DEBT INSTRUMENT THAT WOULD PREVENT THE HOLDER FROM EXERCISING IT AT A HIGHER

INTEREST RATE
     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd, are you moving on to another area?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I am, indeed.
     MR. KAISER:  Let's take 15 minutes and give the court reporter a bit of a break.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

--- Recess taken at 11:28 a.m. 


--- Upon resuming 11:47 a.m. 


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  


Mr. Shepherd?   


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wanted to ask one other question about interest and debt.  And Mr. Sardana, do you know or can you confirm that the difference for the rate year at current market interest rates compared to the 6.8 percent on your $980 million is something in the order of $16 million; is that about right?  Am I in the range?   


MR. SARDANA:  I think we would say it's more like $10 million. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is on the assumption that market is in the order of 5.5?


MR. SARDANA:  No, this is on the assumption that the debt cost rate is at 5.8 percent. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You think that is what the market rate is, 5.8 percent?


MR. SARDANA:  No, the debt cost rate as set by the Handbook is at 5.8, and that is what we would say, compared to market, right. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, okay.  I wasn't asking about comparison to the Handbook, I was asking about comparison to market.  


MR. SARDANA:   Yeah, I think if you want to compare it to the bond rate today, then you are in the range. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I want to turn to a subject that I know is close to your heart, that’s the compensation levels at Toronto Hydro.  We talked the other day about why your distribution rates are higher than other LDCs, and one of the reasons is because your compensation levels for staff are higher than other LDCs; isn’t that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd.  I was playing with my binder.  Could you just repeat the end of your question, please?


MR. SHEPHERD:  One of the reasons why your distribution rates are higher than other LDCs is because your compensation rates for employees are higher than other LDCs; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  I don't think we've said that that's the reason why our distribution rates are higher.  I think we have not done a comparison with our compensation with other LDCs.  So, like, our compensation rates are what they are in our application. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you haven't compared them to other LDCs?


MR. COUILLARD:  Our compensation?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 


MR. COUILLARD:  The only thing that we've had a look on is what you've provided you say as an exhibit, or – 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So before I get to the exhibit, that sort of raises an interesting question.  You’re competing with other LDCs for your people, aren’t you?


MR. COUILLARD:  If I recall our discussion on compensation, Mr. Shepherd, what he had discussed is that we do compete not only with other LDCs but we do compete with other areas of private sector to attract some people.  And although we have never done a formal analysis of salary, and I think I mentioned that it was pending, Mercer has undertook to provide us with this probably in the second quarter of this year, what we had done in the past is try to look at the overall compensation of the company versus a database that was looked at by Hay, which is a consulting firm.  But without any reports, more of a discussion saying, you know, where are we?  I know it came up that there are some comparisons saying we were kind of in the middle of the pack with the broader public sector, which includes like government bodies, cities and places like that, and lower than the 25th percentile, which is lower than normal in the private sector. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I recall that.  And I guess Hay hasn't looked at how you compare to other LDCs of course. 


MR. COUILLARD:  From other LDCs?  No.  This analysis was really a very high-level type of analysis and that triggered us to hire Mercer to do a full scope analysis. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  By the way, are part of Mercer’s instructions to compare your rates to other LDCs?


MR. COUILLARD:  The rates, no?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your compensation levels, sorry, to other LDCs. 


MR. COUILLARD:  No, it was done do focus on the GTA market, not the LDC market.  Like, Hay's approach will be to look at, for example, if you have somebody that is a financial analyst, what is the financial analyst ongoing rate, considering the type of company we are versus the private sector, and the broader public sector as well. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  This confuses me, and I know we've talked about this before, but before we get into this specific comparison, maybe you could just explain to me how can you go into a labour negotiation with people who basically have to work for Toronto Hydro, most of them, or some other LDC somewhere else, without knowing how your rates compare -- compensation levels compare to other LDCs?  How can you go into the negotiation without that?


MR. COUILLARD:  What we have done going into negotiation is, and people have been prevalent to the negotiations on the labour side can tell you, that obviously have the union who is going to weigh, you know, who is the highest in every single classification of jobs, and management will be to other side saying where we think we are.  


We do not have, like, a formal analysis of all the different LDCs in the province.  Like, how much do we pay for -- what's the rate for a lineman, what's the rate in London, versus Hamilton, versus Toronto?  We do have some high-level information on some of the different areas.  And what we had found in this information is that our people are being paid fairly for having to work in Toronto, where we believe there is a cost to be working in Toronto, and I think we had that discussion.  You know, is it 10, 20, 30, I think we can have a discussion for a long time on this, but I think there certainly is a difference in salaries that are paid in Toronto versus salaries that are paid in Barrie, as an example.  


And to build on that point, the other point we had is that the Toronto system is fairly more complex than most of the other urban utilities in the province.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I thought you said earlier that you didn't have any comparison data relative to rates of pay in other LDCs, but I think I just heard you say that you do have some. 


MR. COUILLARD:  What I said is we have not conducted like a big assessment trying to understand, like, what are the different rates on the line trade, like on the unionized employee, versus the other areas.  But what we had is some bits and pieces, obviously, of some areas.  For example, how much a lineman at Hydro One makes, for example, in Brampton versus how much a lineman in Toronto would make. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, I'm going to ask you to turn to Exhibit K4.1.  And this is K4.1, corrected.  You will recall the other day we fixed one of the numbers in the document. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, Mr. Shepherd. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's correct, isn't it, that both Toronto Hydro and Hydro Ottawa have filed in their rate applications a schedule 6-4 which sets out their compensation levels for particular types of compensation and particular categories of employees, according to a Board format; is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  I can't speak for Ottawa, I have not reviewed their application, but Toronto Hydro did file. 


MR. RODGER:  Mr. Shepherd, just before you get to this exhibit, my understanding is that this exhibit was updated?   


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 


MR. RODGER:  I just want to make sure we are all looking at the same version. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  The version that is updated says, “Exhibit K4.1, corrected”.


MR. KAISER:  When was that corrected version filed?   


MR. SHEPHERD:  Tuesday. 


MR. MILLAR:  Maybe Mr. Shepherd can advise, I can't recall. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was filed on the record on Tuesday. 


MR. MILLAR:  On Tuesday.  Do you have a copy, Mr. Chair?   


MR. KAISER:  No, I don't.  Oh, I do.  Do you have it, Mr. Rodger?   


MR. RODGER:  No, I don't, sir. 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Mather will give you a copy.  


Yes, I remember this now.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  I should tell you, Mr. Chairman, that the only change was in about the middle of the page where it says, “pension and post retirement”.  There is a number, 10 million, which was 3.3 million.  It was simply a mathematical error in that cell on the spreadsheet which we caught when I was preparing cross, and fixed.


So, sorry, Mr. Couillard, you say that you haven't seen Ottawa Hydro’s -- or Hydro Ottawa's schedule 6-4?

     MR. COUILLARD:  No, I haven't, but I think you’d expect some of your information and put it on this sheet. 
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, their schedule is actually filed in this proceeding as Exhibit K2.3.  Have you not seen that?

MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry, I thought it was another schedule.  Yes, I've seen that schedule, Mr. Shepherd.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  It's correct, isn't it, that this is a Board-mandated format of reporting, and that the only material difference between how Hydro Ottawa reported and how you reported is that they did not include pension and post-retirement expenses in their totals.  Isn't that right?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, it is a Board-mandated format.  However, I do not –- I mean, that's what Hydro Ottawa is saying, that they have not included post-employment benefits and OMERS in their benefit.  However, doing a quick calculation and knowing the OMERS rates, I had a hard time trying to reconcile to these numbers because it seems that the amount of benefit that is being allocated to Ottawa does not even cover the OMERS, which is 6.5 percent of total compensation.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in fact, you'll see here in the Ottawa section that there's an addition for pension and post-retirement of $3.3 million.  Do you see that?
     MR. COUILLARD:  And that's my -– that’s the point I was trying to make, is if you compare that $3.3 million on the total compensation and what they call, in a sense, overtime for Ottawa, you would get to something that doesn't cover the OMERS rate, so -- and that's not even including any post-employment benefits.  So I think it’s very difficult to start drawing a conclusion here and trying to do any reconciliation.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, maybe you can help me with that, then.  The total compensation prior to -- pre-pension and post-retirement that Ottawa reports is 39.5 million.
     MR. COUILLARD:  That's what -- are you referring to the schedule -- the schedule you filed?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Either one is fine.  The total is conveniently set out at Exhibit K4.1.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, Mr. Shepherd.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the OMERS rate is how much?
     MR. COUILLARD:  OMERS in itself, in their last schedule that was published, is going to 6.5 percent of compensation for 2006.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Pre-benefit compensation; right?

MR. COUILLARD:  So, in the case of OMERS, it's 6.5 percent to 9.5 percent will be the case, depending on what type of employees you are.  That is just the OMERS contribution.  And in ‘05 -- in ‘04/’05, for that particular year, it was 6 percent to 8.8 percent.  So, once again, I had difficulty trying to reconcile these numbers, because if, in fact, it is true that the pension and the post-retirement for Hydro Ottawa, as your schedule seems to be suggesting, is 3.3 million, that does not even cover the contribution for OMERS for Hydro Ottawa.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I just did the math, and 39.5 times 6.5 percent is $2.4 million, isn't it?  Or do I just have my math wrong?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Does that include incentive and overtime?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  It does, but it doesn’t – actually, it includes benefits too, which overstates it; right?
   MR. COUILLARD:  Okay.  Well, that would only leave probably 2 percent -- 2 to 3 percent for post-employment benefit, which usually rank at approximately 15 to 16 percent, depending on the plan.  

What I'm trying to draw out –- by looking at the two together, I’m trying to do a percentage.  It seems to suggest that it was almost impossible that the Hydro Ottawa number of 3.3 million would cover all their post-employment benefit and their OMERS pension.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to ask you, Mr. Couillard, to advise the Board if you find out that the $3.3 million that we've listed here is their total pension and post-retirement is not what they have asked for in their application.
     MR. COUILLARD:  And I have not suggested that.  What I've said is we've been provided with an exhibit trying to compare Toronto Hydro compensation to Ottawa's compensation, and knowing what this exhibit suggested is a pure pro-ration of what Hydro Ottawa post-employment benefit and OMERS and just extrapolate down to what Toronto should be, and the number is dramatically different.  And that's why we were trying to -- I'm not suggesting the Ottawa number is wrong, but I can speak to the Toronto number.  And in your particular exhibit, when you are showing the, I would say, extrapolated value of Toronto Hydro at $10 million for those two costs, if the Toronto Hydro value is $26.2 million for those two costs, and that’s actually -– sorry, Mr. Shepherd, in our filing, actually, we can find that the total for Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited is about $21.5 million, and then the difference comes from the shared services on the employees compensation.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  So you’re wondering whether these figures are comparable.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  But you don't have any information to say that they are not.
     MR. COUILLARD:  From an Ottawa perspective, I do not.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the numbers for Toronto, those are what you reported; right?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, they are.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And it's true that the average executive at Toronto Hydro expects to make almost 300,000 in 2006?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, once again, this includes the post-employment benefit that is -- we can argue that this is not really compensation since this is not driven by the executive but driven by the plan that Toronto Hydro has.  And it's an actual valuation and it gets allocated.  The extrapolation of taking out the OMERS pension and the post-employment benefit for Toronto Hydro gave us figures that are quite different.  It shows the executive salary to be approximately 250,000.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So why don't you tell us, what is the OMERS amount for that executive category, the average?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, the combined OMERS and post-employment benefit amount, which I have here for -– you mean for the executive only?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, executive only.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Is $43,000.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So with OMERS, at 6.5 percent.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Approximately between –- for an executive, it’s probably more likely to be on the 9 percent side.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I see, I see.  So you take the $230,000 of base plus incentive and -- because your plan -- does your plan include incentive in pensions?
     MR. COUILLARD:  No, it's the same pension plan.  Like, there's no difference between the pension for executive and the pension for the other employees.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So incentive is not included in the base for pension purposes?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry, I’m not sure -- the benefit amount, if you look at the first line, “Executive,” base 174, incentive – this is overtime – 56, and then you have the line “66 benefit”.  If you wanted to extract the post-employment benefit and the OMERS contribution for this particular, you would be left with $23,000 of benefit.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  I asked the question in an ineloquent way, Mr. Couillard.  Your pension plan establishes rates of contribution and rates of pension payment based on salary compensation alone or salary plus incentive?

MR. COUILLARD:  The OMERS, which is total OMERS, like, everybody that is part of OMERS, it includes incentive.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So that 230 for executives, which already is a lot more than people in Ottawa make, that 230, some percent of that, which you think might be as high as 9 percent, is paid to OMERS for a pension contribution.
     MR. COUILLARD:  No.  What I'm saying is the –- well, the OMERS portion – sorry, the OMERS portion will be 66 less -– will be $43,000.  That's OMERS and post-employment benefit.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  So I'm disaggregating here.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry.  It would increase the cost of OMERS if you’re an executive because you’re more money, is the question?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  My question is, if we take 9 percent times $230,000, are we in the right range for the pension component?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Should be.  Now, just before you continue, Mr. Shepherd, you just made a comment about the salary of an executive versus Ottawa, and to take on your comments, we've looked also at Ottawa and we looked at trying to once again draw some comparisons and see how much we can understand these numbers.  And we couldn't find 10 executives in Ottawa.  And we went on their webpage and there are only six of them.  


So we had a hard time trying to figure out who is included in the executive categories, what are the people that are in these categories.  Because their webpage basically shows six executives, including one that is a corporate employee, and ours has way more than that. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your website has 16 on it?


MR. COUILLARD:  Correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this might be simply a categorization problem; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  But it will certainly drive the Ottawa average lower if they were to include people that are not at the same level in Toronto. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, anyway, back to you.  I'm still not on the comparison yet, I am still trying to understand your numbers for a second.  If you’re paying $21,000 per executive for pension, you’re paying that to OMERS, that is the 9 percent of the 230, then that leaves $22,000, if my math is right, for post-employment benefits, which seems really high to me.  Why would it be such a high number?   


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, post-employment benefit is calculated by actuaries every three years, and it's based on different things that can be different from different utilities.  It’s based on the demographics, the number of retirees that we have.  We have a significant amount of retirees at Toronto Hydro.  Actually, we are coming to the point in the next two to three years where we will have more retirees than active employees.  It all depends on the historical.  Like, historically, how much service they have been receiving.  


Our understanding, and once again I don't really have a lot of data, is that our normal post -- like our normal retiree post-employment plan is not pension but all the other benefits that our retirees are -- in line with, what our advisor at Morneau Sobeco, or advisor from this side are telling us that they don’t see -- this is not a rich plan.  This is something that is average from the market. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, one of the factors that would make your post-employment benefits higher would be higher number of retirees; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  It could be, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And one of the factors that would drive that, correct me if I'm wrong, is whether you've had a significant downsizing and offered early retirement packages to people. 


MR. COUILLARD:  It depends.  Because early retirement packages also get factored into to cost of -- you don't get the same type of plan if you get an early retirement.  It really depends on what type of retirement package was offered.  So there’s no -- there's different plans on our retirement benefits coming from amalgamation, for example.  So people had that plan, so we call that a grandfather until they are no longer on the plan.  So there could be -- it could be related to having more people in some areas, less in others.  There are a lot of factors that could impact the cost of our --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Here's what I'm trying to get at.  During amalgamation, you – I was going to use the word shed, but it is so cruel – you lost a lot of people, and many of them through early retirement packages; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Some of them, yeah. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have any sense of how much you’re spending on post-retirement benefits because of that?


MR. COUILLARD:  No, we don't have -- no analysis was ever done on this. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a big number; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  I can't speculate on this number. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it something you could find out?


MR. COUILLARD:  Not in -- this is going to take – actuarial evaluation takes long to do.  I don’t even know if we have any of the information on the -- because you need to get people, their age, their –- like, there's a lot of things you need to get in order to do these.  We just went through our actuarial valuation for 2005, and further in connection with our audit.  And what I can say right now is, based on the early conclusion, we are going to incur a million more in costs which are not factored into this application in order to meet some of these post-employment benefit costs in the future.  And it's all related to change in future discount rates, it's related on do you have more statistics on how much our retirees are using the services.  So to draw a simplistic conclusion like this, Mr. Shepherd, I can't really do that. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then I'm not going to ask you.  Obviously, that is a lot of work to disaggregate that information.  But I am going to ask you whether it's correct for the Board to conclude some part of your post-retirement cost in the test year will be - which we don't know how much - will be the result of the early retirements during amalgamation; is that right?  Some unidentified part. 


MR. COUILLARD:  It is possible.  I can't really make a clear statement because I don't really know. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just take you to the overall average compensation per employee.  You see there's a number for Ottawa of $82,000 per employee; total compensation adjusted, including pension and post-retirement, everything.  And there's a number for Toronto of 104.5, 104,500.  Do you see those?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, Mr. Shepherd. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  As far as you know, are those correct?


MR. COUILLARD:  No, I don't believe they are correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  How are they wrong?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, as I mentioned earlier, I think the conclusion being drawn right now is the fact that this post-pension and post-retirement benefit at 3.3 million for Ottawa is actually accurate.  What we have done is try to remove all Toronto Hydro post-employment benefit and pension numbers.  So that we basically would compare everything that is left, excluding post-employment benefit and pension.  And what we had come up with is, as an average salary, for Toronto of $79,000 a year versus an average salary in Ottawa of $71,000 a year, which gives us variance of 11.2 percent.  


We believe it's way more relevant, considering there seems to be a lot of uncertainty on how the post-employment benefit and OMERS have been interpreted by Ottawa.  And once again, I can't speak to Ottawa's data. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So just tell me again how you get to this $79,000 to $71,000 number? 


MR. COUILLARD:  First thing, the 79 is basically the average, taking the benefit column on both sides completely out.  So if you were to take Toronto, for example, and you ignore the benefits side, just including base and incentive over time, you would get to an average of $79,000.  Now, if you wanted to just include the benefits without the post-employment benefit and OMERS, this average will go to 88 percent in the case of Toronto Hydro instead of 104.  


To try to draw some comparisons, in the case of Ottawa the average salary for Ottawa, including base plus incentive, completely ignoring the benefit, would give you $71,000, which is 11.2 difference with Toronto on salary and incentive, which is basically bonus and overtime in the case of unionized people.


Now, in the Ottawa side, if you were to accept that the 3.3 million includes post-employment and pension and everything - once again, I think I have a fundamental issue with that, but I unfortunately cannot verify it in the case of this proceeding - but if you were to take away that portion, you will get it to an average for Ottawa of $75,000.  And that would be a difference of 17 percent versus Toronto’s salary, which we believe is some sort in line with what the market would expect, considering the size of Toronto and all the difference in salaries between Toronto and other areas outside of Toronto. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I understand that.  And will you undertake to file those calculations?


MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you undertake to file those calculations?


MR. COUILLARD:  Those calculations?   


MR. SHEPHERD:  The ones you just explained to us. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful. 


MR. RODGER:   On the understanding that we are speculating as to Ottawa's number.  I don't think it is reasonable for this witness to go to the effort of trying to understand what's in Ottawa's application.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  He's testified to some numbers, Mr. Chairman.  I think we're entitled to see how he calculated them. 


MR. KAISER:  Yes, we'll give the calculations a number. 


MR. MILLAR:  I think we're at J6.5. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.5:  CALCULATION USED BY MR. COUILLARD TO COME UP WITH SALARY COMPARISONS BETWEEN TORONTO HYDRO AND HYDRO OTTAWA.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Couillard, I just want to go though a few of the components of this comparison.  It's correct, isn't it, that your average base pay for unionized employees, according to this chart anyway, is about 12 percent more than Ottawa?


MR. COUILLARD:  That's what it looks like.  Again, I can't speak to the Ottawa number.  What your chart is suggesting, subject to check, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the Ottawa number is in evidence. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Yeah.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?


MR. COUILLARD:  But I have no way to review these numbers. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  When you add overtime on unionized employees, your costs are 14.4 percent per employee higher than Ottawa.  Is that about the right range?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Subject to checking the calculation, it's possible.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  But maybe you can just explain why your unionized employees have base pay and overtime 14.4 percent higher than Ottawa.
     MR. COUILLARD:  As I mentioned earlier, there are a couple of factors that will reflect that.  I think, first and foremost, the complexity of the Toronto system requires different types of skills and there's a different type of mix in the union employees.  For example, a number of them will be customer care representatives, working on the phone; some others are linemen.  So I can't really speak to the mix in Ottawa, for example, how many linemen they have versus -– I mean, these people attract different types of salaries.  So I'm not sure if –- you know, considering all the underground systems we have here, there's a probability, a high probability that we need some people that have some technical skills that are probably of a greater demand that will justify a bit of a higher salary.  So that mix could have a significant importance.

The other -– the second point I want to make is the fact that Toronto is -- once again, usually pays more in salary for a lot of different types of positions.  Working in Toronto, the cost of living in Toronto is more expensive and salary reflects that.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  Now, if we look at the supervisory level, will you accept, subject to check, that your base plus incentives is about 89,000 and Ottawa’s is about 74,000?
     MR. COUILLARD:  On the schedule, I -- the schedule and the number seems to -- I agree with the number you put in the schedule as far as, like, yes, it’s the number on the schedule.  What I have a concern with is, you know, Toronto Hydro has -- the ratio from managers to supervisors is 1:82, so there’s, like –- sorry, about 1:10, and in the case of Ottawa, it's kind of reversed to the opposite side.  So, you know, there's 84 managers for 39 supervisors.  So, once again, it's very difficult to put any faith on this comparison because the supervisor in Ottawa might mean something different than in Toronto.  And certainly, the demographic or the way the employees are distributed seems to suggest that there is a difference.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course, you could add the two categories together, right, management and supervisor, and do that comparison and see whether that shows a substantial difference, couldn't you?  And then you wouldn't have that problem.
     MR. COUILLARD:  You see, I disagree with you again, because we talked earlier about the executive side, where there seems to be some people in Ottawa that we can’t track on their website as being executive because there are way less executives on the Ottawa website than there seems to be here.  So, you know, maybe we can group the three categories together.  It's a bit of a difficult comparison, Mr. Shepherd.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  It's correct, isn’t it, that at least on the categories that the two utilities have filed with the Board, that at the management level, your base plus incentive is 45 percent higher than theirs; isn’t it?
     MR. COUILLARD:  I can't attest to that.  What are you including in the calculation?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Base plus incentive, management level;  132,000 to 91,000.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Are you doing any grouping?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just the categories you've got right there.
     MR. COUILLARD:  If that's what the application is saying, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  See, I guess what I'm concerned with is you have -– you appear to have an increasing differential.  As you go up the ranks, the higher ranked employees, the ones that make the most, the differential between you and Ottawa on a percentage basis is significantly more.  Whether the groupings are right or wrong, at the end of the day the pattern is clear, isn’t it?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, I disagree with you.  I mean, we don’t -- this is -- these numbers are paper -– they are all on paper.  There's nothing in here that talks about level of responsibility.  For example, what's the level of responsibility of a manager in Ottawa?  How many managers do you have in Ottawa?  I mean, if you add Toronto versus Ottawa managers and executives, there's nothing in this analysis that talks to us about what type of work they do, what type of responsibility they have, what is the complexity of the system.  I think it is very -- it will not reflect the reality and would be leading towards a way too simplistic conclusion to just add numbers together, without considering all the complexities of the systems.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  If it's consistently true that your compensation levels - forget pension for a second - at every level up the chain, your compensation levels are significantly higher than the next largest urban area, Ottawa, in the province, is there anything you think the Board can draw from that?
     MR. COUILLARD:  No.  I think what I've mentioned earlier is that the Board actually does not -- I don't think they are in a position to really assess what is the level of complexity of the two different jobs.  The differences in the Toronto system versus the Ottawa system are significant.  There is a huge difference between attracting people in Toronto versus attracting people in Ottawa that makes a significant increase, that probably would lead us to a significant increase in cost.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess what I'm trying to get at here, Mr. Couillard - and I'm actually trying to be fairly direct; I guess I’m stumbling and bumbling around a little bit – is how is the Board to determine whether your compensation levels are prudent, your proposed compensation levels are prudent, if you haven't filed any external evidence that you've compared them to anything and if the only comparison that you have in front of you, you say, doesn’t deal with all the complexities and therefore is useless?  How are they to assess prudence?  How do you think?
     MR. COUILLARD:  I can't speak for the Board.  What I can speak for is the fact that Toronto Hydro has reduced its number of executives over the last, like, five years and has also reduced its total executive compensation, has reduced the number of employees they had over the years, consistently reduced the number of people, and that really has a huge contribution in our cost reduction.  

I agree with you, Mr. Shepherd, on the fact that we have not conducted a fulsome analysis of compensation, and we have undertaken –- we are undertaking to do this.  And it’s something that is very important for us because we want to make sure our employees are being treated fairly.  

The discussion we have when we talk to people in the market -- and I can tell you that we hire people in different areas, and most of the time you’re going against someone in the private sector and we cannot attract these people because, you know, we are not paying enough.  

So I have a hard time here trying to look at Toronto paying way more than market, when most of the time when we want to attract some talent, we have a problem because we can’t pay these employees enough, especially at the management level.

So I agree with you on the fact that we have not filed evidence.  You know, there’s no fulsome report on compensation and we are doing so.  But I believe that there is sufficient –- there’s been sufficient effort for Toronto Hydro over the past couple of years to reduce costs and to really look into reducing the number of people we have and getting more efficient.  And some of these levels of compensation of some of these employees reflect the fact that we are more efficient and we need less people to do the same job.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  If I understand your evidence correctly, one of the two main adjustments you had to make to 2004 actuals to get to the 2006 forecasts was to increase your compensation levels by 3 percent for each of those two years and your pension levels by 3 percent in the first year and 12 percent in the second year, and your post-retirement levels by 9 percent and 4 percent.  Is that right?
     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes, it is.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the total of all those things is something in the order of 10 or $15 million?
     MR. COCHRANE:  I did not do that specific calculation.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm in the ballpark.  It's certainly in the eight figures, isn't it?
     MR. COUILLARD:  We would have to check that.  I think it's significantly lower than this, but I might be wrong.  But a 3.3 percent increase in compensation is --
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, 3 percent on 165 million -- if you just ignore the additional pension and post-retirement amounts, 3 percent is about, what, $6 million a year?
     MR. COCHRANE:  Well, 5.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So 5 million a year, for two years.
     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  By the way, you compounded it; right?  When you did the calculation, you compounded it?
     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes, we would.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it was actually not 3 plus 3, it’s not a 6 percent increase, it’s a 6-point-something increase, right, over two years?
     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes, that sounds about right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Just that part alone, the 3 percent, is at least $10 million; right?
     MR. COUILLARD:  That's over two years.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  Understood.
     MR. COUILLARD:  That’s the ’05 compensation and the -- yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I just want to deal briefly with one other area of compensation and that's incentive compensation.  

On Tuesday last week, I asked Mr. O'Brien and Mr. Haines if they could tell us about the changes to the scorecard.  You’re familiar with the scorecard? 


MR. COUILLARD:  Absolutely. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And they referred me to you. 


MR. COUILLARD:  I'm very grateful. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sure you're thanking them every day.  The scorecard is the basis for your incentive compensation; right?  


MR. COULLIARD:  For incentives, it forms part of it. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  How does that work?


MR. COUILLARD:  The performance pay is offered to our supervisors, management and executives.  A portion is allocated to a scorecard, which is a number that basically will be derived by the scorecard depending on how the company performs in a number of areas.  The other portion is related to a performance contract.  So people have performance objectives at the beginning of the year that are set, and a portion of their incentive will be related to how the person, the individual achieved versus these objectives.  


So for example, right now we are in the process of finalizing our 2006 performance contracts, whereby we put our objectives in the performance contracts.  Like every employee goes through that, other than Union, and then it's agreed with your direct report.  And then there's an annual review at the end.  And this is a fairly extensive document that allows us to measure if the goals achieved. 


MS. SPOEL:   Mr. Shepherd, can you please tell us what the reference in the exhibit is?  Everybody else seems to be flipping to it, and I don’t know what the exhibit number is.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't know of an exhibit.  I'm not referring to an exhibit.  


MS. SPOEL:  All right.  Sorry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if I understand you correctly, Mr. Couillard, you have some percentage that is scorecard, that’s the corporate goals, and you have another percentage which is the performance contract, that’s personal goals; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  In the case of employees of the distribution company, they also have their own scorecards, so a portion will be allocated to that scorecard as well. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So there are two scorecards?  There’s a THC scorecard and a THESL scorecard. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  What are the percentages of the scorecard and performance contract, or they vary by employee?


MR. COUILLARD:  It's actually included in the plan, Exhibit 6-G. 


MR. RODGER:  That’s tab 6, appendix 6-G, page 6 of 6. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Page 3 of 6. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So we've seen this before.  And for the most senior people, it's primarily corporate goals; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  As you can see, the first line says CEO, CFO of THC and to that we would add CAO of THC.  So there are three people there.  And then you can see all the categories are fairly specific on the individual. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  So I'm wondering whether you can file the most current scorecards for THESL and THC, please. 


MR. COUILLARD:  You mean the 2006 scorecard or you want the 2005?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, 2006 would be better.  Presumably you have that now because you’re already into 2006; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  We do. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So could you file those, please?


MR. COUILLARD:  I think we'll have -- this should be part of the confidentiality.  The reason is there are some financial matrix that are disclosed in the scorecard.  For example, the level of budget for capital expenditures versus -- so that will be – 


MR. KAISER:  When we get the ultimate index, does this in round terms tell us the extent to which the corporation has met its business plan?


MR. COUILLARD:  Actually, Mr. Shepherd, these scorecards will be included in the business plan that you will receive.  They are actually included in the document that you will receive under the confidentiality agreement. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  The 2006 ones are included?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, it is the 2006 to 2010 business plan, so therefore it includes the 2006 scorecards.  


MR. KAISER:  How can you have a scorecard for 2006 when it's not over?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, the objectives. 


MR. KAISER:  I thought what Mr. Shepherd was looking is -- the bonus is determined in round terms on the extent to which you met your business plan, the corporate portion I'm talking about.  


MR. COUILLARD:  Yeah.


MR. KAISER:  In Mr. O’Brien’s case it would be 75 percent of his bonus would be related to that.  


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  So you would have the actual figures for 2005 which you used to determine the pay-out of that bonus. 


MR. COUILLARD:  We have not determined the pay-out yet for 2005. 


MR. KAISER:  You haven't?


MR. COUILLARD:  No, we have not.  The performance review process is not completed yet. 


MR. KAISER:  I didn't know -- I thought that is what you were looking for, not the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually, Mr. Chairman, I'm looking for the basis on which they are planning to incent employees in the test year. 


MR. KAISER:  All right. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Which is included in the business plan document that be filed under the confidentiality agreement. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then we don't need it, we don’t need an undertaking for that.  


Just one other question on incentives.  You backed out from your distribution expenses, as I understand it, and tell me if this is correct, $68,000, because that's the part related to net income. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Actually, I want to correct this.  This is a mistake that is in our application.  We did not back out the number.  The actual number, when we redid the calculation, is $43,000 that relates to net income for all the people, and therefore it was not backed out.  So I want to outline that.   


I know our application states that we did and actually we did not. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I looked at these percentages here, and I looked at sort of the information that we had already on your scorecards, and I couldn't figure out how you could possibly get $43,000 of net income related stuff.  So I wonder is you could just show us how you got that number. 


MR. COUILLARD:  I have, like, a huge document to support that.  The detailed calculation was undertaken.  For example, if you look at the -- the only place that has net income is on the THC scorecard.  I'm referring to page 6 of 6 of appendix 6-G. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, of course.  


MR. COUILLARD:  The THESL scorecard, which is the one on the right, if you look under “finance”, it does not include net income as a measure.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay. 


MR. COUILLARD:  The THC scorecard, which is on the left, includes a measure under “finance” called financial commitment or composite.  This is an addition of four different components that account for 20 percent of the matrix.  


So let's take an example of Mr. O'Brien.  75 percent of his bonus would be related to the THC scorecard.  So you would multiply 75 by the 20 percent.  Now, this financial commitment is divided into four, which are all equally weighted, so it would be one quarter of that 20 percent that will be allocated.  


So when you go down to do the entire calculation, and we've done it for all our management staff, that is why the number is actually so low.  To be honest, to really add to that point, we really thought that -- at first we would have believed that the number was higher, and that's one of the reasons we decided not to amend our calculation and not to back it out, because we thought the amount was so small.  

So if you go through all the corporate employees, obviously none of the THESL employees would really have a lot on financial commitment.  If you take it employee-by-employee and redo this calculation, that's the number you would get. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's the number that is the actual for 2004, or for 2005, or the estimate for 2005?


MR. COUILLARD:  That was the estimate for 2005.  And assuming that we are planning -- the forecast, everything was towards that we were going to make our numbers for net income. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And you say this calculation is a complicated one?   


MR. COUILLARD:  Just very -- I mean, it lists all the employees, their salary, their -- it's just very -- it's long, but not very complicated. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  We don't need that detail.  Is there some summary that could help us to understand this?


MR. COUILLARD:  That's the problem.  We really had to go through every single employee, because everybody had a different portion of their performance that was allocated to the scorecard, depending on the level you are, that's why it took so long to get to this calculation. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, that's an appropriate time to break, if it's convenient for the Board. 


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.  We'll come back in an hour.  


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:36 p.m.


--- On resuming at 1:38 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  


Mr. Shepherd?   


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chair, I have one preliminary matter. 


MR. KAISER:  Yes. 


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:


MR. SHEPHERD:  I've been asked by Mr. Coppinger, who appeared on Tuesday, to read into the record a correction.  So I'm just going to read what he provided to me. 


MR. KAISER:  All right. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  

“Upon reading the transcript of January 24th, 2006 and asking questions of the regulatory specialist at the Schools Coalition, I conclude that one of my answers was inadvertently incorrect.  In an exchange between myself and Toronto Hydro’s lawyer that starts line 1 of page 29 and continues to line 12 of page 30 of the transcript, I was asked who should pay the difference in rates if there were legitimate cost differences between Toronto Hydro and Hamilton Hydro, for example, or some other utility.  

“My initial answer was correct.  We, as a school board, have to pay legitimate differences in our supplier’s costs.  Our suppliers have the primary obligation to manage their budgets in order to keep their prices as low as possible, but if differences still remain after that, we have to pay them.  We are then challenged to find those dollars within fixed budgets that do not recognize those differences, but find them we must.  

“However, Mr. Rodger then went on to ask whether I would support having other ratepayers subsidize Toronto District School Board.   I understood Toronto Hydro’s lawyer to be saying that cross-subsidies of this type are a normal tool that the Ontario Energy Board uses to address this sort of certain.  And while I made clear that it would still be a political decision for our trustees, I answered the question on that basis.  

“I have since discovered that this sort of cross-subsidy is not normally considered part of the OEB's mandate, something I was not aware of.  Given this knowledge, it is self-evident that TDSB is not asking that the OEB order a subsidy from other ratepayer groups.  To the best of my knowledge, we have not done so prior to this time, nor has anyone else on our behalf.

“I apologize if my lack of understanding of the question and regulatory framework around it led me to answer the question incorrectly.”


That's the end of the statement, and of course if my friend wishes to further cross-examination Mr. Coppinger, we will him available.  I apologize as well for the incorrect answer. 


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  


Mr. Rodger?   


MR. RODGER:  That's quite extraordinary.  That’s not a clarification of an answer, that is brand new evidence.  It is remarkable that the witness didn't understand the concept of cross-subsidy, but now it's been crisply articulated by Mr. Shepherd.  


We have the answer, I think it was plain to all of us, and I would ask that that change not be allowed by the Board and not be accepted into the record.  


MR. KAISER:  And your basis for that is that it's not a clarification --


MR. RODGER:  That's right. 


MR. KAISER:  -- the witness is changing his position. 


MR. RODGER:  Radically changing his position, in my view, sir. 


MR. KAISER:  Even if the witness was changing his position, Mr. Shepherd has allowed you an opportunity to cross-examine him. 


MR. RODGER:  We won’t pursue that.  I think the record does speak for itself.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.  


Mr. Shepherd, I think the statement that you've made is, in fact, a statement, not a clarification of the witness’s answer that he gave the other day.  What it really is, is he's changed his position.  Our conclusion is that we will not allow it as a change to the transcript, it's not the type of changes we would ordinarily allow to a transcript.  


We think it's open to you to argue that the witness misunderstood the question, but his answer is his answer, as counsel for Toronto Hydro has pointed out.  He has changed his mind on reviewing it, and he has indicated why he’s changed his mind, that he misunderstood the basis for the question, and I suppose that's all argument you can make. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, with respect, I'm looking at the transcript reference and it looks to me like Mr. Rodger is saying to Mr. Coppinger, If we offer to do this, will you agree?  That's what it looks like it's saying.  Is that something you would support if we do it?


MR. KAISER:  Let me do this.  I don't have the transcript before me so we'll reserve on this.  We’ll look at the transcript and we'll get a ruling later once we've had a chance to look at the transcript in detail.  


Mr. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


MR. KAISER:  With the question in its context.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you. 


MR. KAISER:  Are you ready to proceed with the panel?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.
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CONTINUED CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Witnesses I wonder if you can turn to exhibit J2.2.  This is, if I can find it, your budget instructions for 2006 budget; right?   


MR. COCHRANE:  We have it. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Can you take a look at the first page?  You see the acronym RC, and that actually appears throughout.  Can you please tell me what RC means?


MR. COCHRANE:  Responsibility centre. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's like a business unit or the sub part of the business unit. 


MR. COCHRANE:  A department.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  Then the second thing I wonder if you could clarify is, if you go to the fourth page of this, I can't find the numbers on the pages but if you just count to the fourth page, you’ll see a page “Ellipse estimates.”  Can you tell us what that is?


MR. COCHRANE:  There are page numbers on the bottom, if you could help me out. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  My copy, I'm sorry, does not have page numbers.  


MR. COCHRANE:  Okay.  Yes.  So on the flip side from the cover page where it says, “next steps, estimates to be loaded from Ellipse to Hiterian”.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is headed up “Toronto Hydro Corporation - Ellipse estimates.”  It's the fourth -- maybe it's the second page on yours. 


MR. COCHRANE:  Yes, I have that. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So what is an Ellipse estimate?


MR. COCHRANE:  Ellipse is our ERP system.  And the system has the functionality to help us plan program spending, capital and O&M projects.  And one of the first steps in the budget process is entering estimates through this ERP system. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  so this what Mr. Haines was talking about in panel 1, this process where you -- it says here you have to -- the RCs, I guess, are required to make estimates for all the key components of the budget; right?


MR. COCHRANE:  Correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is what Mr. Haines was talking about last year in panel 1, about the bottom-up nature of the budget. 


MR. COCHRANE:  It is part of that process, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so they have to estimate -- anything that has [inaudible] has to be estimated; right?


MR. COCHRANE:  Anything that is a program, so typically that would mean all capital and operation and maintenance programs. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, on the next slide, they even have the opportunity to spread it unequally by month; right? 


MR. COCHRANE:  Yes, they do. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then if you move two slides along to the page headed up “RC budget input - resource budget.”  Do you see that?


MR. COCHRANE:  Yes, I do. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  It says:


“Expense element guidelines are currently being 


reviewed and vetted.”


Are they filed here somewhere? 


MR. COCHRANE:  No, not filed in this evidence. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So can you file those?


MR. COCHRANE:  We can make them available, I believe.  I don't have them here with me. 


MR. MILLAR:   J6.6.  


UNDERTAKING J6.6:  EXPENSE ELEMENT GUIDELINES.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What that is, is that while you’re asking for estimates from the individual RCs, they have certain guidelines within which they make those estimates; right?


MR. COCHRANE:  Well, there's two parts to this.  To be clear, what we do in Ellipse is we project the activities, in effect.  So how much is it going to cost to such and such a capital program, how much is it going to cost to do a maintenance program?  And then on the other side, we have what’s called a resource budget, which is, what are the resources you have available.  What are the people, what are vehicles that you have to do the work?  


So what is meant by RC budget input - resource budget, is the resources you have available to do the work, and then the estimates are, in fact, the work program. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the estimates aren’t dollars, they are numbers of hours, or numbers of people, or stuff like that? 


MR. COCHRANE:  Initially, that's correct.  They are eventually converted into dollars.  For example, hours of labour will be converted into dollars of labour. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  But the units don't do that, you do that in finance. 


MR. COCHRANE:  That's correct.  In finance that's the costing rates, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The next couple of pages look to me, and maybe you could just go two pages along to the one -- two slides along to the one called “IT allocation charges.”  Do you see that?


MR. COCHRANE:  Yes, I have that. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  That page and the next page, tell me if that is correct, they don't estimate dollars for that, there are set dollars for usage.  All they do is count their, for example, their workstations. 


MR. COCHRANE:  That’s correct.  They will -- what they will have to chance to review is a report with the number of units that they have in their department.  And then the overall rate that goes into the bottom-up part of the budget process is established from the IT group. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  These amounts are actually all expended by the parent company, right, and then they are charged out to THESL?


MR. COCHRANE:  That's correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you take your overall cost of desktop PCs, for example, and you estimate what that means per PC, per year. 


MR. COCHRANE:  Correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then if a particular department says, Well, we have 27 of them, you just multiply. 


MR. COCHRANE:  Correct.  Actually, the IT group will track all of the PCs to know which department has how many.  And then if there is any discrepancy, that is what the report is intended to allow the departments to verify. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you look at these numbers and you see, for example, desktop PC is over $1,400 a year.  That’s one year's use of a PC, that’s not the capital cost, that's one year’s cost of having it?


MR. COCHRANE:  The desktop PCs are typically leased on an operating basis, so it includes a -- so it includes the full cost of ownership. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it includes the original capital cost, expressed as a lease component?


MR. COCHRANE:  Well, in fact, it's never incurred as a capitol cost because it's leased. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  But what I mean is the reflection of the capitol cost is in the lease cost; right?


MR. COCHRANE:  It would be, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Do you lease them from an outside third party or does THESL lease from THC?


MR. COCHRANE:  In fact, the agreement is between THC and an outside supplier, and then, just on a cost-allocation basis, we work out to what that cost along with all the other costs involved in supporting the presence of the desktop PC are unitized.  So they get -- 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you pay 400 or 500 to the third party to lease the desktop, presumably with software loaded; right?


MR. COCHRANE:  I do not know if that includes – certainly it would not include all software.  I’m not sure what software it could include other than, perhaps, the operating system. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And this includes -- this includes all the peripherals associated with it?  If it has a printer attached to it or something like that, or it has to share a printer, that's included?


MR. COCHRANE:  I don't believe it does. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  What about the support?  Does it include support?   


MR. COCHRANE:  Yes, it does include support. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's from a third party, or is that from THC?


MR. COCHRANE:  Like many enterprises, we have multiple tiers of support.  So there is front-line support that the IT division provides, and then there's like a second or greater tier support back from the vendor. 


MR. SHEPHERD: So some of the IT department's budget, the support component, is loaded into this $1,448 for the desktop?


MR. COCHRANE:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But as well, then they have a payment to a third party for more highly technical support, the back-up support. 


MR. COCHRANE:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And they might have payments to software vendors for support of their products as well. 


MR. COCHRANE:  Correct.  And they could have software -- site licensing for software as well. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's all included in this?


MR. COCHRANE:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  All the software?


MR. COCHRANE:  What would be provided on a standard basis now.  If a particular user needed something that wasn't standard, then that would be not covered in this charge. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it includes like Windows and Word and Excel, those sorts of things.


MR. COCHRANE:  Yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  It doesn't include an engineering program or statistics program that that particular person needs. 


MR. COCHRANE:  Correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  The reason why I'm asking this, I'm not trying to micromanage here, but the number seems high as an annual cost of a PC.  PC's now cost, like, a thousand dollars, and it seems like a high number.  Can you explain to the Board why the number would be so high for each PC?   


MR. COCHRANE:  Well, I don't think I'm qualified to answer to all of the costs that are -- come from this.  I would say, however, to the best of my knowledge that there is a lot more to keeping a PC operating and reliable and providing the support to the users for any kinds of problems that they may encounter versus the cost of simply the hardware itself. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this includes fees, in effect, paid by THESL to THC for services from THC; right?


MR. COCHRANE:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Does that include some profit component in THC?


MR. COCHRANE:  No. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  How are those fees set, support for example?


MR. COCHRANE:  The total cost involved in these specific activities are -- these specific items are gathered up in THC and then they are unitized based on the number of PCs of different kinds. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that would include the people costs and the cost of the any space that the IT department has, things like that. 


MR. COCHRANE:  It would not include the cost of the -- the direct IT costs.  So it would not include the overhead associated with IT, for example, in its use of office space. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because that's charged to THESL separately.


MR. COCHRANE:  That is also charged to THESL separately, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is includes the interest costs on the capital component of the IT department’s assets?


MR. COCHRANE:  Well, as I mentioned, if the PCs are leased, in effect the payment to the vendor is deferring the vendor’s capital cost. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not talking about that.  I'm talking about, for example, you've got your support person at THC which presumably is down the hall from the use, in most cases, but he works for THC.  And that support person has a workstation, an office, and all that sort of stuff, and capital components.  Are any of those capital components of that person's costs included in the cost of this -- charged to this PC?


MR. COCHRANE:  No, because the facilities use of the IT person would come in through the facilities allocation, not the IT allocation. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is done differently?


MR. COCHRANE:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  What's your average length of use of a desktop PC, do you know? 


MR. COCHRANE:  I believe it's four years. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Four years. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Actually, it is three years. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Three years.  So these desktop PCs, over their lifetime, are costing you $4,300 or $4,400 each. 


MR. COCHRANE:  That, I believe, makes sense if we just do the math.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  Now, this 6.3 million in here for the IT allocation charges, that’s not the whole IT budget; right?  That’s just the component associated with these particular types of things?
     MR. COCHRANE:  That’s correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Because your IT budget is 23, something like that, million?
     MR. COCHRANE:  I believe it’s in the area of that 19 that gets charged to the LDC.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so the difference is what?
     MR. COCHRANE:  So these are the specific charges that are allocated down to the individual departments, and there are other activities within the IT group that are not allocated to individual departments but they are allocated to individual entities.  So in addition to the charges that go to the departments, there's a charge that will go to THESL as one lump sum, if you like, for all of the other services that are described in our application.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Can you just go a couple pages further on to –- a couple of slides further on to the one labelled “Fleet Charges”.  Do you see that?
     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, am I right that this is one of the shared services that's owned by THESL and charged back to other units?
     MR. COCHRANE:  That's correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so it charges lease rates that are sort of gross level lease rates for these vehicles?
     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes, and this will mainly refer to charges, in fact, between THESL departments.  So we have the fleet department that is seeking to recover its costs from the other departments in THESL.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And THESL charges on the basis of fair market value, market rates?

MR. COUILLARD:  It is charging essentially on the basis of its costs.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  See, I'm looking at this statement:  

“We strive to ensure that our vehicle lease rates are cost-competitive with external suppliers.”  

I take it that what THESL charges the other units is the same or less than market rates for similar stuff.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Shepherd, when we actually look at our fleet costs, the administration of the fleet -– for example, every time we buy a vehicle -– and they are all for THESL.  There’s very little use of vehicles outside of THESL.  THC has very little –- like, the shared services group has very little use for vehicles.  But in THESL, our group -- our fleet group goes out, and what the statement relates to is the fact that we go out and we shop around.  Like, when you buy a car, basically, we go to different places and try to find the best price we can get basically at that moment.

So I think we -- although it is based on cost, like, the cost that THESL has incurred to buy the vehicle, it is recharged to a different department.  This is mainly an internal charge from one department to another, and it’s designed to encourage efficiency.  

As an example, distribution services, which is one of our largest areas, could decide, Well, I want, you know, a lot of trucks in case I have an emergency.  I always like four or five cars/trucks waiting or 20 waiting in the back so I'll never have a problem.  Well, this is not very cost-efficient obviously, because you would have assets sitting there in case.  

So in order to encourage that -– to discourage that, we've gone to a model where every department that has vehicles is getting charged for the vehicle that they are using at a certain rate.  And when you look at your budget, basically that forces people to say, Well, you know what, maybe we don't need 20 vehicles waiting in the garage for us in case there is something; we only need two.  And that's how we encourage efficiencies.

To your point about costs, it’s all done through our fleet department.  There’s a lot of shopping around.  When these trucks are purchased - and I think the average life is around seven years; I might be wrong here, but I think, give or take, seven to ten years, especially on the large equipment – you know, these are all done -- I would almost say that this is market, considering that, you know, there is a lot of procurement that is going through this process.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what you charge to other units or what you charge internally is set on a basis of the total costs of the fleet department.  Those costs are just allocated.  Or are these rates set to be equivalent to market?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, the rate is set for the cost.  So, for example, if you have a truck, you know, where the ongoing rate is $1,000, if, for any reason, this truck became a collection piece and is not worth 2,000, we wouldn’t increase the rates.  We’d keep the rate as 1,000.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So fleet is -- for example, when street lighting needs -- they need vehicles, right, they get them from -- they lease them, in effect, from THESL.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, they are.  I think there's, like, three or four maybe.  There's not a lot of cars there.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I think we should spend more time on this, then, if there’s three.  

Let me just ask about one other area on this, and that is, towards the end -- this is, again –- sorry, my pages aren't numbered.  This is a slide that’s headed up “Facilities Occupancy Services”.  Do you see that?
     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And, again, this is another department that’s owned by THESL; right?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, it is.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And these are the buildings and that sort of stuff, the equipment in the buildings, all those things?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And on the next page we have a series of numbers which are the investments that you expect to make in 2006.  Is that dollars?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, these are dollars, and the view, at the time of the budget, the things we were planning on doing.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is somewhere in your capital expenditures budget before this Board, this $3.8 million?
     MR. COCHRANE:  It will be part of it.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it broken out somewhere, or is it just buried in there as part of the overall larger budget?

MR. COUILLARD:  We’re just going to check.  I think it's not an easy comparison.  Let's just have a little moment and we can check.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Don't spend a lot of time on it, but if you know ...
     MR. COUILLARD:  We can't seem to find it, but Panel 3, dealing with capitol, could probably help you if you really want to go into this.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Not really.  The next page has a section at the bottom that talks about the per-square-foot rates you are charging to the other entities for space.  Do I understand this correctly, that these are averages and that you actually charge each building, for example, on the basis of its appropriate rate?

MR. COCHRANE:  We charge each department based on its use of this type of space.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you charge –- a department that's at 14 Carlton and a department that’s in an industrial plaza somewhere in the north end of the city gets charged the same amount for office space and the same amount for warehouse space.
     MR. COCHRANE:  I don't think that’s was this says.  It’s an average rate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That’s what I was asking.
     MR. COUILLARD:  But we do not have, like, anything in a commercial plaza.  We own our own buildings.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, of course.  And these are “net net net” rates.
     MR. COCHRANE:  What do you mean by “net net net”?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, commercial lease rates are based on certain standards, one of which is “net net net”, which is before anything is loaded on, just for the bare space.  Or are these loaded with all the accoutrements to them, like taxes and maintenance and all that sort of stuff?
     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes, it is a loaded cost to the extent of the –- of some of the services that are indicated on the previous page; so facility management costs, building security and access, basic office supplies, basic office equipment, mail services, so there's a lot in there.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, did I understand Mr. Haines to say the other day - and can you tell me whether this is true - that the regulatory budget that's filed before this Board, the budget you asked for approval for, is the result of this process; is that right?
     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So the reason why I ask that - and it's confusing a lot of us, not just me, although maybe I'm the most confused - is I looked at appendix 6B of the pre-filed evidence.  Can you get that out?  Do you have that?
     MR. COCHRANE:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I looked at this and it looks like this says something completely different.  We took our 2004 numbers and we made certain specific adjustments that we're telling but right here, and that's how we get to our 2006 regulatory budget.  Isn't that what this says?


MR. COUILLARD:  Can you refer me to a paragraph, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  

“Projected distribution expenses were developed on the basis of 2004 results as previously reported to the OEB.”


MR. COUILLARD:  I think this is a combination of both.  This is -- nothing is wrong in our statement.  What we're saying in appendix 6-B is this is the methodology we used in order to derive the rate application.  But in order to get to these estimates, we had to do a lot of work on our side.  That’s really what these things -- the budget is a bit -- it is way more granular now.  If you look at the budget versus what is in the rate, it is the same thing.  Like, the total numbers are the same.  


The process in getting it to it, you know, we used our 2004, we did an adjustment, but that's a lot of what we are doing from a budget perspective.  When we are talking about high-level guidelines in how we are reviewing the budget, this is part of our process.  


The business units, per se, when they actually start looking at their budget, it is actually a great challenge in finance because they come and ask us a lot of information about their prior year costs.  And we have financial analysts that would go and work with them to analysis these prior costs and see if there is anything that is non-recurring or reoccurring.  


So I think the statements on 6-B speaks to overall what the process is, and then the budget description, per se, of the process is a bit more granular. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  With the greatest of respect, 6-B says, We took our 2004 number, and paragraph 1 says, we made two specific changes so to it; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  I disagree with you.  Paragraph 1 does not say we took the 2004 number, it says it was developed on the basis of the 2004 results.  There's quite a bit of a difference here. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So read paragraph 2, then.


MR. COUILLARD:  Mm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't it correct that you took certain specific changes to produce a normalized view of 2004 expense levels?   Isn't that what it says?


MR. COUILLARD: It does say that, but once again, it's to the premises that you use the basis of 2004 model to develop the process and to develop our expense.  When we look at the variance between one area to another, or like what is an non-recurring, a lot of this information comes from the detail of the budget process. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, well, you gave us a list of the non-recurring on the next page.  


MR. COUILLARD:  The list is way -- there is way more work than just, like, for example, one number can have like -- different things can feed into this number.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Give me an example.  Help me out here. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Inventory adjustment, for example.  In this number there could be things related to how we are recovering in the warehouse, how many -- what's the acceptable level of inventory for that year, what's the provision for obsolescence, how much more are we going to charge, how much more warehouse space do we need?  So there are a lot of things we could have in there. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  More warehouse space is under inventory adjustment?


MR. COUILLARD:  It could be part of the cost how we are -- the warehouse is operating. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't understand that.  Perhaps you could explain how that can possibly be.


MR. COUILLARD:  Mm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Inventory adjustment is an accounting term; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, we are looking at these things on the overall basis of seeing how much is allocated to the different areas.  So like, I’m more referring to the adjustment to allocate warehouse, I’m sorry Mr. Shepherd, than the inventory adjustment.  The adjustment to allocate warehouse overhead will include all these things.  


The inventory adjustment is pure equipment. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You do a count; right? 


MR. COUILLARD:  Yeah. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You say, our inventory is going to be different in the test year, that's material, we have to fix that. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Once again, it’s not that our inventory will be different.  There could be different things in the capital program that we are going to need that are going to put some things obsolete.  Like if there is capital program change and we stop using a piece of equipment, or something happens in the regulation that says well such piece of equipment now doesn't meet code or is no longer regulation, we would have to go for an inventory adjustment. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So inventory adjustment refers to capital inventory?  This is about distribution expenses.  I’m just trying to make sure I understand.


MR. COUILLARD:  Inventory adjustment, if something is in your inventory, for example, it is on your balance sheet and it does no longer qualify as carrying on your balance sheet, you have to take an adjustment.  So you have to expense that.


If we had to do that in 2004, for example, for a piece of equipment that we can no longer use, this will not be a recurring expense. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  This paragraph 2 says:  “The adjustments were as follows.”  I assume that there weren't any other adjustments besides these ones. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Not that were material. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you'll have to help me with this.  It says that you made some adjustments and you had a materiality test for doing so.  Here is the list of adjustments.  Are there other things that were adjusted that you haven't told us about?


MR. COCHRANE:  No, we did not adjust anything else from 2004 as our starting point for projecting future test year.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you got to a normalized set of 2004 expense levels with these a adjustments; right?


MR. COCHRANE:  Yes, so in fact what we did is - to clarify what the table is saying - we removed or deducted $6.3 million from our actual expenses.  So to make sure that we were not overstating our expense requirement, we removed $6.3 million form going through this exercise. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  I'm not saying you did anything wrong.  It's great.  You can do more of that.  


Then you say, Once we had these normalized 2004 actuals, we made, as I read it, six specific changes to get to the 2006 distribution expense number.  One is we changed our total amount of amortization; right?


MR. COCHRANE:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  That was just because you expected to have a higher level of capital in service; right?


MR. COCHRANE:  Correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you just tell us what the impact of that adjustment is?   If your cap ex in 2005 and 2006 had been the same as 2004, do you know what the impact on your amortization number is?


MR. COCHRANE:  Yes, if you just hold on a minute I'm going to give you a reference in the evidence.  


In our response to the VECC interrogatory number 21, we did a line-by-line comparison.  So we noted that over the two-year period, in fact, amortization expense is increasing by $6 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  Oh and by the way, could I just ask you about one thing in there.  The smart meters, what’s the amortization component of smart meters?  Is that also in VECC 21?  I must have missed that. 


MR. COCHRANE:  It's not separated out in VECC 21. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know what that is?


MR. COCHRANE:  Roughly speaking, it would be about $1.9 million. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You are planning to spend $50 million on smart meters or so, 47 or something. 


MR. COCHRANE:  Correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are amortizing them over 15 years? 


MR. COCHRANE:  The actual Smart Meter units, yes, but the systems component of it is amortized over 5 years. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason why it's only $1.9 in the test year is because some of them are only going to be amortized on a partial-year basis because you are feeding them in over the year. 


MR. COCHRANE:  Exactly. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Got it.  And I note you are using a 15-year am for the metre equipment.  Is that the manufacturer’s standard or is that something that you've developed internally?


MR. COCHRANE:  I know that there was guidance that we received.  As to the specific source of it, I would have to defer to the operations panel. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then it says here in paragraph 6 that, with some specific exceptions, for 2006 you just took the 2004 normalized results.  Isn't that what it says?


MR. COCHRANE:  With the exceptions described below that. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then that's not the bottom-up process that we were told, is it?   


MR. COCHRANE:  It would not be identical, but it was in fact validated through the bottom-up process. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's not what quite we heard.  What we heard was, This is how we got our budget.  We did it bottom up.  But in fact, what you did is you did a budget on a top-line basis, making adjustments from 2004, and then you looked at your bottom-up budget to see whether they were close; isn't that right?

     MR. COUILLARD:  No, that is not correct. Sorry.  We prepared our rate application.  We kind of prepared our rate application using a lot of the 2004 information but also asking a lot of people in the different areas to give us a sense of, like, what would be the bottom up, without going through the full, full exercise.  And the question is really more a question of timing.  Our budget timing, it starts usually -- this type of exercise starts, like, towards the end of July, early August, and obviously the application had to be filed by August 7, if I remember well.  I might be off by a couple of days.

And then what we have done is going through the process.  So using this kind of consensus with some of our people in different areas, we validate -- I don't want to use the word “validated” because that’s not really -- we had a lot of discussion and a lot of -– like, we had to put our capital plan, basically, which is large part of our business process -– I mean, a large -– one of the most significant is not only the capital plan but also the O&M plan.  So we to put that, like, fairly quickly together, and it was very labour intensive.  I mean, we had a lot people working on this prior to the rate filing.

And then following this, using the guidelines of the rate filing, then we followed with -– you know, we did the full bottom up at the end.  And the number did match and it was clear in our head that the capital plan that we were -– we spent and the O&M plan basically drives, like, almost 90 percent of the business plan anyway.  So that portion was already done.  And we had consulted with a significant amount of people.

So to say that, you know, it is not a bottom up, and, you know, we did two exercises completely and separately, it wouldn't be a fair assessment.  But we wouldn't also be able so say that, you know, we started our rate application in April and starting to build this budget in the same way.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Just tell me whether this is true:  When you filed the rate application, you hadn’t yet done the bottom-up approach; right?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Well, it depends on your definition of bottom-up approach.  We had consulted significantly with all the different departments that are usually involved in our large budget exercise.  We had not done a full budget exercise as we do it on an annual basis.  However, we had done what we considered a very, very good approach in going into -- seconded people, basically, that dedicated their entire early part of the summer preparing this information so that the application that we were putting in front of the Board, our submission, was in line with what we would have expected in our -- if we would have done the entire business plan.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Can you just turn to this paragraph 7.  We talked about the increases, and I don't recall anywhere in the evidence, and maybe I just missed it, the underlying basis for these numbers, the 3 percent, the 12 percent, the 9 percent, all those, is that filed somewhere?  Have I just missed it?
     MR. COCHRANE:  No, I don't believe it's filed anywhere.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you have, like, a study or analysis or something -- you didn't just pick those numbers out of the air.  There was a basis --
     MR. COCHRANE:  No, we didn't.  As a matter of fact, the base page and overtime, the 3 percent, that was consistent with our existing collective agreement at the time.  Our pension costs were -- increases were consistent with the direction we had from OMERS as to where contribution rates were going.  And the accrual costs were substantiated by the actuarial analysis, the same analysis that's used in THESL's audited financial statements.  

MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me just deal with the last one of those first, because I thought I heard Mr. Couillard say earlier today that the actuarial analysis had not been done at this time, and in fact when you did it, you’d have to spend another million; is that right?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  We used the prior actuarial analysis that we had that was going up to 2005.  However, because -- from an amalgamation perspective, we are a fairly young company, we had discussion, our audit committee, and I think there's been a lot of discussion about pension.  And then you see a lot of the large corporations in the U.S. on benefits and everything.  So our board of directors had expressed that they would like us to go and do this analysis more than a year earlier, because theoretically we shouldn't have had to it do until 2006.  

So we actually went, in the last part of 2005, and performed another analysis which will give us data for 2005, 2006 and 2007.  As a result, the incremental costs for us on annual basis is approximately a million dollars.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you said “we” did this analysis, but you actually got an outside actuary to do it; right?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Oh, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  You also note here that you’ve increased your allocation of management payroll cost to capital projects from 5 percent to 12 percent because your CapEx is going up; is that right?
     MR. COCHRANE:  What we said is that the amount that’s allocated to capital has gone up on a year-over-year basis, so 5 percent would be the increase in 2005 versus 2004, and 12 percent is the projected increase for 2006 over 2005.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you've diverted 17 percent of your payroll to capital expenditures between 2004 and 2006; 17 percent more.
     MR. COCHRANE:  No.  What we're saying is the amount that we're allocating has increased by that amount.  That's not the percentage of payroll that's, in fact, allocated.  That's the increase in the allocation.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's just because your capital budget went up?
     MR. COCHRANE:  Because the capital budget -- of all the programs, yes, capital is -- it's increasingly capital intensive.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  So if your capital budget was the same as 2004, then we would assume that your distribution expenses would have to go up by some amount to cover the 17 percent?  It's the same people; right?
     MR. COCHRANE:  It's the same people, yes, but can you repeat the rest of your question?
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's say this Board said, We think the capital budget that you had in 2004 looks pretty good to us, so that's what we're going to authorize, then you would have to take the salaries of those people that you've put in the capital budget and you’d have to put it back in the distribution expense; right?
     MR. COCHRANE:  That’s correct.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know what the impact of that is?
     MR. COCHRANE:  No, I do not.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you find out?  It's a number you have around somewhere; right?
     MR. COCHRANE:  Well, no, we never did the analysis to say, what if our 2006 capital were so much lower, then how would that affect that allocation of management costs.
     MR. COUILLARD:  I guess this is way more complex, because it depends on what portion of the capital program you don’t do, and that really drives a lot of different things.  So it’s not, like, you know, what portion of our capital project we don't do, then how do you go back, in fact, and figure out what part of management is allocated to these things.  I think the -- the number that has increased, a lot of the increase is related to what is written earlier, like, the increase in salary, the increase in OMERS and the increase in the benefits.  So that really is driving most of the increase, along with the increase in capital project.  It's a number that’s almost impossible to calculate, because you would to have figure out which project -– I mean, we are talking about hypothetically.  You know, the capital program in 2004 is different than the capital program in 2005 and it's different in 2006.  It's not only to say, Well, the dollar amount is the same, so does that mean –- I mean, you would have to go back and figure out, Well, typically, depending on the level of expense in the different areas, you know, how much of management is in there.  

I have a hard time coming up with a number and being able to actually speak, like -- speak to this number.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  Do you know what the amount of management payroll costs allocated to capital projects in 2004 is?
     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  What is it?
     MR. COCHRANE:  It was 17.8 million.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  If I multiply that by 117 percent, am I going to get the 2006 number?
     MR. COCHRANE:  It's not that straightforward because of the -- you're using –- well, 5 percent and 12 percent compounded, so it won't exactly be 17 percent but you'll be close then.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  20.9 million.
     MR. COCHRANE:  Yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  I just want to ask you one question on the smart meter stuff.  You're assuming that 150,000 residential units will be installed in the test year.
     MR. COCHRANE:  That was the assumption in our application, yes.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you’re assuming that there's going to be an O&M cost charged in rates of $2.3 million for the operation of those units during the test year.
     MR. COCHRANE:  Correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And another 1.9 million of additional amortization and depreciation. 


MR. COCHRANE:  Correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know what the return component is on that?   That’s capital assets, right, so it creates a rate base which you get a return on; right?


MR. COCHRANE:  Yes, just like any other capital asset.  We didn't isolate that in our rate filing. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it fair to say that it’s somewhere in the million-and-a-half dollar range?   Is that in the ballpark?


MR. COUILLARD:  Pretty close, probably. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  So if the ratepayers are to assume that they are being asked to spend something like $5.7 million on Smart Meters this year they are going to be in the range. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Yeah, if you add the operating expense component. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And is there somewhere -- you have a pilot program on this, right, on smart meters?


MR. COCHRANE:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there somewhere where you’ve done any analysis yet, or maybe it's too early, to determine the benefits side of that investment?


MR. COCHRANE:  I don't believe that we have that analysis done at this point. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's something that's in your plans to do, that's why you are doing the pilot projects; right?


MR. COCHRANE:   Yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.


MR. COCHRANE:  It will be, however, not totally complete because while we will be able to provide feedback on usage by different periods, that is not necessarily the same message as an actual differential in the price that a customer pays, because we don't of time-of-use attached with everything in this pilot right now.  So we will get some picture. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Plus there are a lot of things and costs that might be associated with the final regulation that, you know, we do not have at this point and can't really factor into this pilot. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  In your smart meters numbers, are you assuming that your first year of smart meters are going to be somewhat more expensive than subsequent years?  As you get better at it, as you have more infrastructure it's going to be cheaper on a per-unit basis to do this. 


MR. COCHRANE:  No, I don't believe that we have yet projected any change in rates for -- any change in unit costs for future years. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are putting in infrastructure at the outset; right?  Isn't that going into rate base right away quick?


MR. COCHRANE:  What do you mean?  Well, the systems component, yes, although there could be incremental system capacity upgrades as we expand the base number of meters out there. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the last question on this, you haven't asked for a variance account for smart meters cost, have you?


MR. COCHRANE:  We have not. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess the thing that I don't understand, and perhaps you can help us with this, is you you've asked for a variance account for regulatory costs, which one can't imagine would vary a lot, a few hundred thousand or maybe a million dollars, but on something like this that you’re already expecting that it’s going to be $6 million or more, you haven't asked for a variance account.  Why do you think this is a more certain expenditure?   


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  We filed it on this basis, although we did make submissions in the generic proceeding which dealt with the smart meter accounting proposals.  Basically, Toronto Hydro's position is that we would not be opposed to a variance account.  In fact, we would support it, if that was the decision of the Board. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  Now, we've already talked about regulatory expenses, you talked about that with Mr. Warren.  The last thing is, you did reduce your insurance costs, right, from 2004 to 2006?


MR. COCHRANE:  Yes, we did.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was a couple of hundred thousand dollars or something like that?


MR. COCHRANE:  The estimates at the time were that, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you did that because you had projections from your insurers as to what they were going to charge you. 


MR. SARDANA:  That's right. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.  I wonder if I can turn, then, with considerable trepidation to the subject of your load forecast.  You are the right people to ask about that?


MR. SARDANA:  Yes.  And thank you, I couldn't stand another night of review.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you prefer, I can leave it. 


MR. SARDANA:  No, no, please.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm just trying to find my notes.  


Here we are.  Now, you understand, Mr. Sardana, that this is a highly technical area and someone who actually understands this stuff has fed me these questions, most of which I can barely pronounce.  


MR. SARDANA:  That's fine. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your current forecast is that load in 2005 will be 0.7 percent higher than 2004; right?   


MR. SARDANA:  Our current forecast -- bare with me for one second.  If you are comparing it to 2004 -– actually .54 percent difference.  It is over two years. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I thought your evidence said that you were estimating 0.7 per in 2004, and then a further 0.4 percent from 2005 to 2006.  Is that not right?


MR. SARDANA:  Well, the 2004 total load came in at about 26.4 terawatt hours.  We are forecasting the 2006 to come in at 26.7 terawatt hours.  I guess what I’m saying is when you compound it over two years, that works out to .53 percent.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh.  Okay. 


MR. SARDANA:  It’s year over year.  The per-year change is 0.53 percent. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that’s a lot less than I thought.  Your average annual growth from 1999 to 2004 is 0.6 percent?


MR. SARDANA:  Okay.  I've got the '98 to ‘05 actual number now. It is .93 percent, actual. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Per year?


MR. SARDANA:  Per year. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you’re estimating over two years 0.53. 


MR. SARDANA:  That's right.  Well, we’ve got the two-year actual, we’ve got the ’04 and ‘05 now.  So our forecast feeds off – it's not just feeding off the ‘04 and ’05, it’s feeding off the full data set. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have ‘05 actuals?


MR. SARDANA:  Sure.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  And what is it?


MR. SARDANA:  Again, it is not finalized yet because this is all part of our closing process.  The ‘05 actual was 27.4 terawatt hours. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you’re expecting a substantial dip. 


MR. SARDANA:  That’s right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  From --


MR. SARDANA:   From ‘05. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  From ‘05 to ’06. 700,000 gigawatt hours?  


MR. SARDANA:  About 668,000.  


MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Shepherd, is there pre-filed    material that you are referring to in this part of your cross-examination, because I'm a bit lost.  There seem to be numbers floating around and people seem to be looking at pieces of paper, and I don't know which ones they are. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Honestly, this stuff all comes from the evidence somewhere.  


MS. SPOEL:  I assume that.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  But I have no idea where.


MS. SPOEL:  It would be helpful for me, and I expect the rest of the Panel, if I knew where.  It would help.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Perhaps I could ask the witness to help where we could find this stuff. 


MR. SARDANA:  Thank you, Ms. Spoel.  Actually, I'm looking at my own numbers, my own background.  But he have filed a VECC interrogatory and that is -- pardon me, Ontario Energy Board Staff interrogatory number 12.  That's the -- OEB Staff interrogatory number 16 is probably better.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  I was actually going to get on this on some other stuff. 


MR. SARDANA:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd.  That won’t answer it.  That’s at the retail level.  Sorry. 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Shepherd, why don't we take the afternoon break and see if we can all get on the same page here. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  That would be most helpful. 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar, maybe you can get us copies of this.  We all seem to be totally lost.


--- Recess taken at 2:27 p.m.


---On resuming at 3:03 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  


Mr. Shepherd?   


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chair, we've had a lot of fun trying to find this stuff during the break and we concluded that, in fact, the historical load information is not in the record, although it was provided to us in response to School Energy 15 in a spreadsheet.  Part of the spreadsheet was then filed in hard copy, but the rest of it was never filed.  So I'm going to ask if Mr. Sardana can undertake to provide the sheet with historical data, which may help the Board. 


MR. KAISER:  All right.  


MR. MILLAR:   J6.7 Mr. Chair.  

UNDERTAKING J6.7:  TO PROVIDE THE SPREADSHEET FROM SCHOOLS ENERGY COALITION INTERROGATORY 15, WITH HISTORICAL DATA


MR. MILLAR:  Before we begin, Mr. Chair, I believe Mr. Rodger had a preliminary matter. 


MR. KAISER:  Yes, Mr. Rodger. 


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:


MR. RODGER:  I'm just wondering, Mr. Chairman, over the break I was able to have a look at Tuesday's transcript of Schools, and I just wonder if you wanted to address now Mr. Shepherd's attempt at slight of hand to have new testimony magically appear in the transcript.  Would you like to deal with that now or wait until later on in the day?   


MR. KAISER:  No, let's deal with it now.  


MR. RODGER:  I don't know whether you have the transcript handy. 


MR. KAISER:  Yes, I do. 


MR. RODGER:  As I mentioned earlier, I think the record is very plain and clear.  If you could just start on page 26, starting at line 22, you'll recall this was a question I had asked to try and understand the School Board's position at this hearing.  And starting at line 22, Mr. Coppinger states:

“Mr. Chair, I would say that the School Board is after as much relief as possible.  So we would like to put more than actually what's being put before you.  

“Mr. Rodger:  So you think the rate reduction for the School should be larger?  



“Mr. Coppinger:  I believe that the cost of 

distribution should be the same across the province,
because the funding by the province to the School Boards is the same right across Ontario. 

“Mr. Rodger:  So your view is that schools across the province should pay one uniform distribution charge; is that correct?  



“Mr. Coppinger:  I believe the rate should be 



comparable. 



“Mr. Rodger:  Comparable or the same?



”Mr. Coppinger:  The same.”


So clearly, the statement is all schools in Ontario should pay uniform LDC charges.  


Then if you go over a couple more pages, page 29, starting at line 18, I get into the discussion of how this should be financed.  And starting at line 18: 

“Mr. Rodger:  What if someone proposed the difference between again Toronto’s distribution rates and Hamilton's distribution rates should be made up by other ratepayers, in other words, put more of a burden on the other ratepayers to reduce the rates to be paid by the School Boards.  Would you support that?

“Mr. Coppinger:  I'm not quite sure of the question.  



“Mr. Rodger:  Well, in order to reduce the 

distribution slice of your overall bill that you pay, that is the Toronto District School Board pays, we would redesign the rates to put more of a burden on other ratepayers so they would basically pick up the difference collectively.  Is that something you would support?  



“Mr. Coppinger:  Personally, I could support that 

because -- but it would be a matter for the Toronto District School Board trustees to make that political decision as what to the Board would support.  But I do
know that they seek relief on their budget by imposing additional tax to other resident in Toronto.  So extrapolating that point of view to your position, I would say they would support that ratepayers pick up that differential cost.”


Now, sir, yesterday was Robbie Burns day, as we all know, and one of his great lines was, “an honest man is God's noblest act.”  So here we have plain questions, plain answers, and in my view it's completely unreasonable for Mr. Shepherd to create a new transcript now.  I think the Panel made the correct decision earlier on before the break, and it should not amend the record as Mr. Shepherd requests.   


Those are my submission, sir. 


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  


Do you have any submissions, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, we have not asked that the transcript be amended.  We did what is normally the case in this Board.  When a witness looks at their evidence and realizes that they would have misled the Board, they come back to the Board and tell the Board, No, that answer misleads you, that's not what I think and not what who I'm representing thinks.  


What Mr. Rodger has read you to misses a key part of Mr. Coppinger’s answer.  On page 29, if you look at the top of the page, he's asked the question: 



“So what if there are legitimate cost differences 



between Toronto and Hamilton?”


And Mr. Coppinger says, and I quote:

“Well, if you're asking me if there’s  a legitimate cost difference in the operations of the utility in Toronto to the cost of operations in Hamilton, no doubt that should be recognized, and we as a school board would be faced with some of that cost differential, and it would be our responsibility to then follow the other two strategies,” --which he was talking about earlier, conservation and talking to the province.


So his initial response was right.  His initial response was what he would do with any other supplier.  If you're prices are legitimately more expensive, we have to eat it.  


Mr. Rodger then, though, sets a trap for him.  And says, Well, let's suppose that we offer you, and he says down here: 

“Well, in order to reduce the distribution slice of your overall bill, we would redesign the rates to put more burden on other ratepayers.  Is that something you would support?" 


And Mr. Coppinger, who is responsible for the budget for TDSB says, Hey, if you will give it to me, of course I'll take it.  Now, my trustees might not like it, I have to go ask them, but why would I say no?  


Then reads that later and he comes to us and says -- reads the transcript and then says, it looks like I'm asking for subsidy, I'm not.  And why then would it be inappropriate for this Board to accept his statement, which is subject to cross-examination if you wish, that he and his employer do not want subsidy?   


MR. KAISER:  Well, it seems to me that while he may have said one thing in one part of his evidence and another thing in another part of his evidence, his answers, Mr. Shepherd, appear to be clear.  I think the question is clear, and at page 30, line 4, he says:

“Personally, I can support that, but it would be a matter for the District School Board Trustees …” and he goes on.  


So I don't think he is taking a position in this question as to what the position is of the School Board Trustees.  But he goes on at line 10: 

“So extrapolating that point of view to your position, I would say they would support the ratepayers pick up that differential cost.”


So he has a position, he's expressed the position.  This is not a question of correcting an error in transcription.  If he's changed his position, he's changed his position.  We'll have to deal with that.  


But there's nothing unambiguous in the transcript, except to say that you could argue that his evidence on page 29 contradicts his evidence on page 30, but the answers in both cases are clear, and counsel can make what they make of it in argument.  


I think that's sufficient. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, sir.  


MR. DINGWALL:  I have one very brief preliminary matter.  I've provided a number of copies of one document to Mr. Millar and to Mr. Rodger which I'm hoping to make reference to with the witness panel tomorrow when I'm predicting I will come up with them.  And I would just like to have that marked as an exhibit to ensure they have got the fair opportunity to reference them.  


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MR. DINGWALL:  I will also be making reference to, and I haven't copied that yet but I will have copies for tomorrow, page 127 of volume 2 of the transcript in this proceeding. 


MR. KAISER:  All right, we'll see if maybe Mr. Millar can help you out and we can provide copies to the panel today.  You just need a copy of the transcript?


MR. DINGWALL:  Simply the one page. 


MR. KAISER:  Maybe you can accommodate. 


MR. MILLAR:   I'll try and help him out, Mr. Chairman. 


MR. KAISER:  Just so we have it today.  What are we going to do about load forecast?  Do we have anything to look at or are we just going to leave that topic now?   


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, we have that page from the material.  


MR. KAISER:  Oh, do we?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder, maybe just to keep it straight, maybe we can have an undertaking number for that. 


MR. KAISER:  Yes. 


MR. MILLAR:  We just gave an undertaking J6.7, is that the same one?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Did I miss it. 


MR. MILLAR:  I have it written down.  Maybe we wrote it down without actually saying it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, you did say it.  My fault.


MR. MILLAR:  I did say it.  It's J6.7. 


MR. KAISER:  And what's the piece of paper we're to be looking at right now, Mr. Millar?   


MR. SHEPHERD:  There's nothing to look at.  


MR. KAISER:  There’s nothing.  I thought you said there was something? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  


MR. KAISER:  So we are going to leave this topic until we have the documentation or are we just going to --


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I have no more questions on the historical load forecast -- or the historical load.  


MR. KAISER:  All right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have some questions on how they did the load forecast, but that is largely stuff -- 


MR. KAISER:  Do you think you'll be the balance of the day, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have about another 45 minutes.  So depending on how long the Board wants to sit, there may be room for other people. 


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Dingwall, you would prefer to start tomorrow morning; is that true?


MR. DINGWALL:  I understand Mr. DeVellis might be ready, and he has some time.  I'm approximately an hour to an hour-and-a-half. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  Approximately 30 minutes, Mr. Chair. 


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.


Please proceed, Mr. Shepherd.


CONTINUED CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD: 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you Mr. Chairman.


Mr. Sardana, what's the impact of a one percent increase of load on your rates?   


MR. SARDANA:  Mr. Shepherd, this is a very ballpark estimate, and there have some assumptions obviously in Mr. Zebrowski's and my discussions, but a one percent increase in load should be about a 0.7 percent increase in rates. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because your volumetric rates -– 


MR. SARDANA:  Decrease in rates, sorry. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because your volumetric rates are about 73 percent of your total. 


MR. SARDANA:   Roughly that, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you converted that into dollars, in terms of the existing customers, the dollar impact on them is about $3.4 million.


MR. SARDANA:  I’m sorry, how much?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The dollar impact on those customers is about $3.4 million. 


MR. SARDANA:  Before tax, we are estimating it to be about $3.2 million.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  I can't resist this, and you'll understand context.  Does your load forecast have confidence bands? 


MR. SARDANA:   I think the short answer is, yes.  What we have done is, for the regression model, that is the model that we used to forecast purchased kilowatt hours, the forecasting method, and you'll have to bare with me if I get a bit too out of context, is a point forecast.  In other words, we have a point estimate for January, February, March.  


The software package that we are using as our forecasting tool provides the confidence interval based on the error of the regression model as a whole, not on each point forecast.  And what we're starting to do now is go back and examine that model and the software package, because the right way to do a confidence interval is to have an interval around each point of the forecast.  


So the short answer is, yes, we have done a confidence band.  We have also put a confidence band around the adjustments that we have made, but based on the full regression model, not each point estimate.


The adjustments and the forecast fall within the 95 percent confidence interval and the 98 percent confidence interval. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have a 95 percent confidence band and a 98 percent confidence band?


MR. SARDANA:  That's right.  But again, with the qualification that it's on the regression model as a whole, not on each point forecast.  There is a difference, and it's an importance difference. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So your estimate of 26.7 million -- 26.7 terawatt hours, can we say that that's plus or minus 5 percent?


MR. SARDANA:   No, I think what you can say is, it falls within the confidence bands that are calculated by the regression model around that.  So the 26.7 terawatt hours are well within our confidence limits for the regression model as a whole. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And on your 95 percent confidence band, what is your high and low?


MR. SARDANA:  I don't have the numbers here because -- we have it back at the office. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you file those, the confidence bands on -- you do them on 95 and 98 percent; right?


MR. SARDANA:  Again, keep in mind that strictly speaking it is not a confidence band around each forecast point.  It's a confidence band around the regression model as a whole. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  But it ends up translating into a confidence band around 26.7 terawatt hours; right? 


MR. SARDANA:  Right. 


MR. MILLAR:  J6.8. 

UNDERTAKING J6.8:  TO PROVIDE THE HIGH AND LOW NUMBERS FOR THE CONFIDENCE BAND CALCULATIONS AT BOTH 95 AND 96 PERCENT.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You do tests to determine the accuracy of your forecasts?


MR. SARDANA:   Yes, and we filed that.  That's part of the accuracy measures, the historical fit of the model, and the regression forecast also puts out some accuracy measures that are in the evidence.  And these are the AIC and BIC measures. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry?


MR. SARDANA:  The AIC and BIC measures.  And actually, from a forecast perspective, the most important statistic to look at is the file statistic, which is also part of the regression statistics. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  The file statistic? 


MR. SARDANA:  Yeah, the file statistic has come in at 0.3 percent.  I think the only person that, perhaps, understands this is Mr. Mather across from me.  The file’s inequality statistic has come out to 0.3.  It basically tells tell you that the closer you are you are to zero, the better your forecast.  If you go towards 1, your as far away from a good forecast as possible, and if you are at 0, you have a perfect forecast.  We are at 0.3, it's not bad. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I seem to recall evidence the other day that you changed this model recently.  You found that some variables weren't significant anymore and you had to change them. 


MR. SARDANA:  Yes, and we filed that in our undertaking.  The only variable that we changed from ’05 to ’06 is we've removed what's called the spring dummy.  So it's a dummy variable that we use to determine whether a certain month is a spring month or not.  It’s a binary; it’s a 1 or a 0.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You use a single regression equation for your forecast?


MR. SARDANA:  Single equation regression model, but with multiple variables. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know of anybody else who does that?


MR. SARDANA:  Sure.  I don't have the names of them in my head, but it is -- that kind of model is well accepted throughout the industry and throughout many other industries as well. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you familiar with the load forecasting methodologies of Hydro One or Enbridge or Union?


MR. SARDANA:  No. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know whether they use a single regression?


MR. SARDANA:  I don't know what Hydro One is using today.  I do know that Ontario Hydro used to use econometric models to do its load forecast.  Within their models, they made extensive use of single-equation models, but I'm not sure what Hydro One has inherited and taken on. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  In your models, you don't use number of customers as an explanatory variable, do you?


MR. SARDANA:  No, and that's because we've got proxies.  We tested number of customers, it didn't work out.  So the proxy is weather, basically.  A customer behaves according to weather, so you can build in that intelligence. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, explain to me how weather can be a proxy for the number of customers?


MR. SARDANA:  It's not a proxy for the number of customers, it's a proxy for customer behaviour.  These are behavioural models, the regression model.  So it's not that the number of customers is driving the load, it is how they behave given weather, et cetera. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you have more customers, aren’t you likely to have more load?


MR. SARDANA:  Sure.  I mean, both of them fit into the calculus here. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your accuracy tests, they are all in-sample tests?


MR. SARDANA:  Pardon me?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your accuracy tests are all in-sample tests?


MR. SARDANA:  An in-sample test over here, the file statistic is a test of the forecast.  So the file statistic, the 0.3 that I mentioned, is a measure of how well your forecast is doing. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  But it is still in-sample. 


MR. SARDANA:  What do you mean by in-sample?


MR. SHEPHERD:  As I told you, I'm fed these questions.  I really can’t say.


MR. SARDANA:  Let me try this. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me tell you what I think I understand.  In-sample means that you test to the data to see whether you fit, you don't go back and see whether it projects right numbers based on past data. 


MR. SARDANA:  Right.  And as I said, file statistic is the out-of-sample measurement. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You have a statistic called mean absolute percent error. 


MR. SARDANA:  That's right. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  MAPE. 


MR. SARDANA:  That’s right. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And your MAPE statistic is 1.93 percent?


MR. SARDANA:  That's right. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Does that mean that your data fits the model within an average of 1.93 percent, roughly?  


MR. SARDANA:  On average, it's the mean. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I'm supposed to ask you about another test called the Ljung-Box test. 


MR. SARDANA:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD: Can you tell me about that. 


MR. SARDANA:  Well, Ljung-Box is a test for autocorrelation in the error term.  We prefer to use the Durbin-Watson test, which is printed as well.  A Durbin-Watson close to 2 means that the errors in the forecast don't contain, or contain very little, information that might skew the results.  So the Ljung-Box is an accepted test as well.  We are not relying on it, we are using the Durbin-Watson.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, this tells you whether something internal to the model is causing a skewing of the results. 


MR. SARDANA:  Well, what it's saying is that the parameters that we've selected to try and estimate the load perhaps aren’t, in an of themselves, sufficient, that there may be some other information out there.  And maybe that other information is not entirely random, and that's what shows up in the error term.  Because the error term will then start to behave in a non-random fashion. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you had a Durbin-Watson result of 2?


MR. SARDANA:  It was 2.37, which is very, very acceptable. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could turn up K4.2, filed on last Friday. 


MR. SARDANA:  Got it. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  These are your numbers; right?


MR. SARDANA:  The adjusted and the raw, yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you made a series of adjustments to the forecast based on judgement, and those are those differences there in that column labelled difference; right?


MR. SARDANA:  Correct. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So to the extent that I'm used to statistical models at all, I'm used to models that produce a result and you live with the result.  I'm trying to understand why you would change the numbers that come out of your model. 


MR. SARDANA:  Okay.  The first thing is I'm surprised that you would just live with the model, because this is akin to if a financial adviser came to you and said, I’ve got a model that shows you getting 50 percent returns year over year, you wouldn't just accept that.  Okay, great.  You’ve got a model.  I’m going to go with you.  There's always judgement in a forecast.


But that said, if you look at the historical data, which as you mentioned we have sent Schools, two things leap to mind, if you'll pardon the pun.  There are two leap years in the data set, 2000 and 2004.  2006 is not a leap year.  So that's the first adjustment.  We know that February of 2006 is going to be lower than the historical data set.  


And that works out -- the additional day in February adds about 90 million kilowatt hours right there.  Then we also have some pretty severe weather, 2003, the other thing that we've had in this data set is market opening.  


So there's a whole bunch of things that are, if you will, skewing the behaviour of the model when it comes to a forecast, and that's what leads to some of these adjustments.


So if you turn, then, to I think it is OEB Staff Interrogatory number 12.  If you look at the max 1998 to 2004 number, for example, for February, you'll see that we're talking about 2.2 terawatt hours for February. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you help me with where you're looking. 


MR. SARDANA:  In the bottom rectangle, where it says forecast of 2006 kilowatt hour purchase.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is on attachment one. 


MR. SARDANA:  Right attachment one, page 1 of 1, 

schedule 12.  You've got 2.2 terawatt hours for February as the max February value that we’ve ever achieved in this data sample period.  The model is saying we are going to be even higher than that.  


What we've then done is realized, okay, if you were to chart the historical data - and once we sent you that you’d be able to do that - you'll see clearly that those leap years are really skewing things.  It's a fairly small data set, and you have two leap years in there that are really skewing things.  


In looking at the numbers, we said, Fine, that's where the forecast is taking off from.  That's what's lead to the adjustment for February.  


We applied a fairly similar consistent adjustment methodology to the other months as well that we adjusted.  And we realized that the model seems to be overshooting on turning points.  And as you can tell, these are spring months for the most part, and November, which is also our turning point before the winter period.


So we've applied a fairly consistent methodology to take a look at the data, take a look at these turning points, and to find what else is going on in here.  And that's what's lead to our adjustments.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  So do you know what your actual was in November ‘05?


MR. SARDANA:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  What was it?


MR. SARDANA:  And this and is really your in-sample question.  We call that an ex-post examination.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.


MR. SARDANA:  So for November, the actual number came in at 2,141,345,747.  The regression model had forecast 2,250,401,387, and our adjustment was 2,125,401,387. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, you're looking at November ‘06.  I was asking about November ’05.


MR. SARDANA:  I'm looking at November ‘05. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So November ’05 looks to me like your model showed 2,233 and you adjusted to -- 


MR. SARDANA:  Fine.  The conclusion stays the same, it won't be far off.  Had we not adjusted it, the percent difference would have been close to five percent.  Our adjustment, we were only off by .75 percent.  


And so maybe just to add a little more here.  We do take this very seriously.  I think I know the impact of adjusting load.  We've gone back and we have scrutinized these numbers quite carefully.  And we do carry out these ex-post examinations. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You just said you were off by 1. -- was it 0.7?


MR. SARDANA:  0.75 percent we were off by, after our adjustment. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  That can't be right, because you were projecting 2,103, your actual was 2,141, the difference is 38 gigawatt hours.  That looks to me like it's 1.8 or 1.9 percent. 


MR. SARDANA:  Okay.  I think I picked up the ‘06 number.  I can go back and check.  Our number was a lot closer after the adjustment to the raw model, that's really what the conclusion is. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that the case for all of these adjustments?


MR. SARDANA:  No, because we haven't experienced the adjustments yet. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason for the adjustments is because the model results were above the max?


MR. SARDANA:  No, that was the first-order test that we did.  There were some second-order tests that we looked at.  We also looked at, for example, the percent change year over year for each of these months.  So January to January, February to February, et cetera.  And we tried to discern if there was some kind of pattern to how these months were changing over time on an actual basis.  


So we also took that intelligence and used that in our adjusted methodology.  In fact, in all but one case the methodology that we applied had called for even higher adjustments.  We actually rounded down in most cases. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you can turn to -- just as an aside, am I correct that those adjustments make a difference to rates of about $5 million or so?  You said one percent was $3.2 million so I’m just -- 


MR. SARDANA:   Mr. Shepherd, in all fairness, we would have to run the calculation to see what it would mean. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  It is in the ballpark?  Is that sort of around --


MR. SARDANA:  I think, subject to check.  We would have to check it, right. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you turn to Exhibit E, tab 1, schedule 16, attachment 2.  This is Board Staff Interrogatory 16, attachment 2, please. 


MR. SARDANA:  Right. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I just want to focus for a second on the general service, over-50 non-time-of-use.  Do you see that line there?   


MR. SARDANA:  Yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  The 50 kilowatt to 1 megawatt-hour.


MR. SARDANA:  Right.  And it's correct, isn't it, that you are projecting that the -- this is consumption per customer in the class; right?


MR. SARDANA:  Right. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you’re projecting that over the four-year period, 2002 to 2006, consumption per customer in that class will drop 15 percent, right, roughly?


MR. SARDANA:  Sure, yeah, we'll buy your math. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  But in fact, your experience showed that 2003 and 2004 showed decline, but 2005 went up; right?


MR. SARDANA:  Right, but 2005 was one of -- I think NASA has said has been the warmest weather year ever, and they have done some projections in the back and said it's almost an aberration. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course, these aren't the 2005 actuals on this, right, these are forecast?


MR. SARDANA:  For the most part. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And they are like a 6 and 6 forecast? 


MR. SARDANA:  I think they would include May and June, May ‘05. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So they would be a 5 and 7 forecast. 


MR. SARDANA:  Right. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  You now have the actuals for 2005, don't you?


MR. SARDANA:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you undertake to provide them?


MR. SARDANA:  Yeah. 


MR. MILLAR:  J6.9.  


UNDERTAKING J6.9:  MONTHLY ACTUAL LOADS


MR. SHEPHERD:  I know this will disappoint you, Mr. Sardana, but I have to leave load forecast. 


MR. SARDANA:   If it's any consolation, Mr. Shepherd, I view load forecasting with an equal amount of discomfort as eating haggis.  


MR. RODGER:  I object.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you can turn to the question of an aging work force and you have -- you've talked about that in Exhibit E-1, Board Staff number 7.  Do you have that? 


MR. SARDANA:  Yes, Mr. Shepherd. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And this says – let me just find it - that approximately a quarter of your current staff will retire in the next 10 years. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I heard the other day, I don't remember who said it, I think it was maybe Mr. O'Brien said that a third of your outside work force is actually expected to retire in the next 10 years.  Can you help us with that difference?   Is that just a question of which category you are talking about?


MR. COUILLARD:  I think it's just a question of the category.  People on the outside are a bit older. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  What's the average length of time that somebody works for you before they retire?


MR. COUILLARD:  We just know retirement age.  We never ran statistics on how long people worked for us before they retired.  I can't really answer that question. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay, let me ask you a different way.  Does your pension plan use an 85 factor or a 90 factor for early retirement eligibility?  


MR. COUILLARD:  I believe, subject to check, that it is age plus years of service, which has to add up to 90. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  90.  So somebody who is 60 who has worked for you 30 years can retire then. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And if they are 55, they have to have worked for you 35 years to retire. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, that's the way the system works.  This is for undiscounted pension.  If somebody wants to retire earlier, they could, they just won't receive the same amount of pension. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is full pension. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Yeah. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The reason that I’m asking these things is if 25 percent of your work force is going to retire in 10 years, that implies to me, and maybe I'm not understanding the numbers, hundred percent in 40 years, and what you've just told me sounds like everybody can retire before 40 years anyway, so this 25 percent is not unusual.  Is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  I'm not sure what you are saying.  Can you just repeat?


MR. SHEPHERD:  If 25 percent of your work force is retiring in the next 10 years –-


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- then isn't that normal for a turnover of 40 years?


MR. COUILLARD:  No, I wouldn't say that, because a lot of the people were hired -- and I think it's typical from a lot the utilities or cities, that usually you hire people over time.  Now, we have a huge concentration of people that will retire.  When we say quarter will retire over 10 years, 10 years is true, but there's some specific time where, like, the people will retire even more in the last 5 years of these 10 years, for example. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  But I guess it seems to me that if, let's say, at the absolute outside your employees work for you an average of 40 years, at the absolute outside, then in any given 10-year period, randomly, 25 percent should be retiring; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  That's by simple math.  But the issue here is a lot of the people were hired at the same time.  That would assume that you have constant hiring throughout the years, and that's not the case.  A lot of people were hired earlier on, like 30, 35 years ago, or between 20 and 30 years ago, and these people will likely all retire at the same time.  It's in line with the baby boomers or some of the generation that are going to leave in this area at about the same time. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess the thing I don't understand is you haven't led any evidence on a particular blip in 2009, say; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  We have not provided that in our evidence. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Bit you've just said you have got a whole lot of people retiring in the next 10 years; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  That's what our evidence said.  We've done in work internally to look at our aging work force and see when the people are leaving and the type of job that they are doing so we can actually put that statement in our application. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  But generally speaking, I would have thought that you would have to replace 25 percent of your work force every 10 years anyway, wouldn't you?


MR. COUILLARD:  No, I don't think it's a fair statement.  It would be a fair statement if you had hired people over the years equally or on an equal distribution, which is not the case. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess I don't understand that.  Maybe you could just help me.  Because it seems really simple to me, if people work for you for 40 years then every 10 years you have to replace 25 percent of them.  And what you said in your evidence is you have to replace 25 percent, Oh, the sky is falling.  And I don't understand why that would be a problem. 


MR. COUILLARD:  If you hired everybody in year one and they worked 40 years for us, then you won't have to replace anybody for the first 30 years, that's what I'm saying.  It really depends on the of distribution when these people were hired.  The fact we have to hire, like, let's say 25 percent of our work force, let's say we replace one for one, which is not what we are doing but if we were to replace one for one, I think I would agree the fact that in another 40 years that we would have to replace another 25 percent of work force.  But, unless the distribution of hiring people is equal, it doesn't work. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you haven't any filed any evidence on the distribution of hiring, have you?


MR. COUILLARD:  Right now, we have not. We have conducted internal analysis to allow us to be able to do that. This is a long-term planning.  When we're looking at replacing our workforce, a lot of the skills in the trades, especially in the trade area, it takes a long time to acquire these people -- sorry, the apprentice level, and this is a very long journey for them with us.  That is why we need to have some of these statistics in order to know when we are replenishing our workforce.  There has been a lot discussion, even through labour negotiations with our union. You know, what we are doing, this is a well known problem at Toronto Hydro, the average age of Toronto Hydro as an example is 47 years old, and for a company that has all the people doing some outside work, which you argue on a day like today I wouldn't want to be in a bucket truck working on a pole. You know, this takes a while to be able to get the people. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And after amalgamation, you went through a sort of a major downsizing to -- rightsizing to get the right number of employees; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  We've looked at optimizing our operation, and looking at the number of people we needed in order to do that. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And a bunch of that was done by early retirement; right? 


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes a lot of that was done through voluntary package offered to employees. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that was, in fact, you used the pension plan for that; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  I can't really answer that question.  I'm really not that familiar with this. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, who would we ask about that?


MR. COUILLARD:  I would have to take an undertaking if it's a matter you want to explore further. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll see whether we need to get some specific information, but let me just ask you this:  If you have an early retirement exercise, one of the things that you do is you drive down the average age of your workers; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  That could be a possibility. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  So did the early retirement exercise that you went through in what was it 2002 and 2003, did that drive down your average age of your workers?


MR. COUILLARD:  It was not only early retirement; it's voluntary separation.  So people would get like packages like money for example, to leave the organization.


Did it really put our organization younger? Most of the people, at the time, the average age of the company was about the same, so I don't think it created to my knowledge a major difference in the average age of your employees.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, of course, one of the things 

you could have done to deal with this -- you've known about this problem for a while; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  I'm not sure what problem you're talking about. 



MR. SHEPHERD:  The age in workforce problem.


MR. COUILLARD:  Oh, I wouldn't consider that a problem.  We consider that as an opportunity because we think we can -- we are continually improving some of our process. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  And one of the things you could have done to deal with that is over the last few years, when you had a fairly substantial income, you could have used that to train more young workers; right? But you didn't.


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, we do training all the time.  Training is actually one of our big values at Toronto Hydro.  


We have a lot of training programs for existing employees. Currently right now, the capital program in the O&M program we had didn't require us to have more employees.  And right now, in the 2000 and 2005, as an example, we have just hired like 12 or are in the process of hiring 12 people in our line school.  You wouldn't higher people -- there's a cost -- it's not only a question of cost for training, you also need to have the proper mix of work.  You also need to have the people to be able to train some of these new employees.  I wouldn't say this is something we should have done.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are going to start doing that now. 


MR. COUILLARD:  Actually, we have not started now, we started before.  We started like -- our trade school has been in play for I think since 2003.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  And how much did you spend on this aging workforce solution, if you like, in 2003 and 2004?


MR. COUILLARD:  I don't have the total detail.  Once again, we can take an undertaking.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Was it a significant amount, do you know?


MR. COUILLARD:  I can't speak of the amount.  I'll have to check.


MR. SHEPHERD:  When you replace older workers with younger workers, isn't one of the result that your payroll costs go down?   You have an initial cost, transition cost to bring a new person in, and then, younger workers, generally, are less expensive than the older worker; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  By the time -- well, two different areas.  Let's talk about the trades for example.  By the time the employees are out of what we call the trade school, they are fully trained and certified.  They wouldn't like the high range of -- like they are reaching the maximum in their position.  


If we talk about people that are not in the union, the type of salary that would be offered to the new people going into these positions, would be reflective -- we want it to be reflective of this analysis that we are doing with Mercer.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm actually asking a simpler question than that.  If you have a 30 year-old worker, a lineman, let's say, and a 50 year-old lineman, they don't make the same amount of money. 


MR. COUILLARD:  You mean somebody with 15 years experience versus 30 years of experience? 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. COUILLARD:  My understanding is THAT they do make the same amount of money.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have internally a compensation distribution chart by age?


MR. COUILLARD:  I've never seen one.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I just want do ask you a couple of brief questions on cost allocation.  You've used the Board's default cost allocation in your proposed rates; right?


MR. SARDANA:  Mr. Shepherd, to clarify, do you mean the cost revenue requirements by class, you mean or do you mean the fixed variables?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  My understanding is that the revenue requirement has been allocated to the customer classes based on the existing percentage that's collected from each class rate at the moment.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if in 2005 you're expecting to collect 22 percent from GS over 50, then 2006, you're allocating 22 percent of revenue requirement to GS only. 


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  To be very clear -- to give you an accurate answer on that, I would have to check that, just to be sure.  I know we follow the model, but I'm not knowledgeable enough on the mechanics of the models to really give you a good solid answer.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, I'm going to ask you for an undertaking. But let me make sure we got the whole undertaking frame.  You also followed the model on fixed variable split; Right?


MR. SARDANA:  No, the fixed variable split came out of our own revenue model, and we have filed that. It's very, very marginally different from the OEB's mixed variables.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And tell me how that is different from -- can you explain that just a little more? 

MR. SARDANA:  What our revenue model does is it -- you know, it takes the 2005 rates and current load and -- pardon me, 2006 load, and that is the forecast, and then the revenue by class, basically the distribution class comes out of that, and that's really what drives the fixed-variable split in our own revenue model.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me understand this.  You take the load forecast that you using by rate class, you apply that to your existing rates and you get a sufficiency or deficiency in each class; is that fair?


MR. SARDANA:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd.  If you could just repeat that last question you had?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I've actually forgotten.  What you did is, if I'm -- tell me if this is correct.  You took 2006 load forecast by class, you applied 2005 rates and calculated sufficiency or deficiency by class, and then you adjusted the rates to recover or refund that sufficiency or deficiency within the class; right?


MR. SARDANA:  I think we are getting bogged down on the sufficiency-deficiency aspect.  I think both Rick and I are having trouble with that concept.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you apply 2005 rates to 2006 load, you'll get a number; in total, you'll get a number which is what you would recover in revenue, and you can compare that to your revenue requirement; right?


MR. SARDANA:  Right.  I mean, it's revenue by distribution rate component, and it gives you ‑‑ it leads to the customer charge and the variable rate split, you know.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I don't.  Help me with that.


MR. SARDANA:  I think, Mr. Shepherd, in some fairness to you, we should get you that answer a more fulsome fashion.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I'm going to ask you undertake to give us an explanation of how you allocated your revenue requirement between classes and between fixed and variable.


MR. SARDANA:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  J6.10.

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.10:  HOW REVENUE REQUIREMENT WAS ALLOCATED BETWEEN CLASSES AND BETWEEN FIXED AND VARIABLE.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And just before we leave that, what you didn't use is your internal cost allocation studies; right?  You didn't do a formal internal cost allocation?


MR. SARDANA:  No, we did not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you do have internal cost allocation studies that you have done; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  There was a cost allocation study done back with our filing of the 2000 rates, and the rates where ‑‑ that's when we did the initial unbundling and the initial setup of the fixed-variable components.  At that time, we used that study for establishing all those rate levels, and that's been the basis that we've been following ever since.  So any changes that have happened since then have been as the Board has directed in terms of if there's anything that affects any one rate, you know, either the fixed or the variable rate, or if there's any shifting between revenue classes of any sort.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.  So you've got rates based on this cost allocation study that we find that E, 4, 13.  The rates are based on that right now; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And have you done any updating of that cost allocation study in the meantime?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Or any testing to see whether it reflects current realities?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  No, we haven't touched it since we filed it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for all you know, it could be way off?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  I don't think things changed that much.  We used it as an alternative to what the Board had proposed at the time.  I think it was much better methodology than what the Board was using as a default methodology for all the utilities at the time of unbundling.  I don't think revenue -- you don't typically see shifts between classes of the revenue requirement to any great extent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you see shifts in the type of expenditures you have; right?  For example, between 1999 and today, your expenditures on information technology are probably quite different; right?


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  The operation of the business changes and, yeah, I'll grant you that.  The allocators used in the cost allocation study, there's a great deal of subjectivity involved in these things.  It's not what I would call a very definitive result that you get at the end of the day.  Although you do get a numerical result, it's not a result that you can rely on to say that this is the kind of precision that we should be following, and then shift revenues between classes to be right bang on to match up the result of the cost allocation study.  


Off the top of my head, I'm guessing if the result was within plus or minus 5 percent of what the cost allocation study came out with, I think we'd have a good result.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I want to turn to the last area, then, I have questions on, I think, and that's shared service expenses.  And I wonder if you could turn up J2.1?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have that?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, what this describes - correct me if I'm wrong - is you have a total amount of shared service expenses in THC, and this shows how much each company pays of them; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so, for example, in 2004 you had $82.3 million of shared expenses, of which $79 million were ultimately eaten by THESL? 


MR. COUILLARD:  They were allocated to THESL.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  I didn't mean it pejoratively.  It's just colourful language.  But the 2004 numbers are a bit misleading, because they include facilities as part of this allocation, which has now changed?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Where's fleet, by the way, in that, or is that included in facilities?  Fleet also moved; right?


MR. COCHRANE:  It's with facilities.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You just lumped them together in this?


MR. COCHRANE:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, I just have two questions about this.  What you do, if I understand correctly, is you allocate some of these expenses back to THC initially; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, why do you do that?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, because, as I mentioned earlier, we try to reflect the true cost of operating every single area.  So, for example, in my department, like finance, I should be trying to control how many computers do I have?  Like, how much space do I occupy, and that kind of thing.  So that's why we are allocating everything into the different areas where the costs are incurred, prior to doing final allocation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then what you do is, at the end, you say, Okay, what's the total allocated to the parent company, and you allocate all of that, essentially all of it, to THESL; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  No.  The way this process works is in every different area -- we looked at every different areas or RC, as we mentioned earlier, separately, and tried to allocate what could be directly allocated in each function to the different business unit, so -- and that's not based on any, like, you know, overall number.  So it's based on direct costs.  


For example, in the regulatory area, in Mr. Zebrowski's area, the cost from the OEB that is charged to Mr. Zebrowski's area are all allocated to the distribution company.  So we do a function-by-function analysis.


Now, when we do this, there's also some costs that gets allocated ‑‑ so, sorry, they get allocated to all the different business units.  On the affiliate side, many of the functions are already existing within the affiliate.  As an example, there's no such thing as a finance department in THESL, but there are finance people in all the business units.  There's a controller for Energy Services.  There's a controller Telecom.  So that's why there's a lesser need for allocating some of these costs there.  


Now, the costs that don't get allocated, they're costs that are what we would call a corporate cost.  So on the -- from a number perspective, approximately, I think it's 78 percent of the THESL costs are directly -- of the $55 million in 2006, are directly allocated to THESL on this basis.  So it's approximately -- well, it leaves about $12 million of what we say that are called corporate costs.


Looking at these corporate costs, these corporate costs could be related to different areas.  For example, in finance, we have internal control, like Bill 198 compliance.  We have, like, OSC reporting compliance, governance costs related to the board of directors.  A large portion of these costs are related to the IT charge, so all the IT charge for the shared services people are included in there, and they are not part of the first allocation, if I would say.  


So what we do at the end, we take the portion of these costs which, in 2006, is $12 million, and we had decided to use a ratio of revenue, so a percentage of revenues expected for 2006 by the different business units as a basis of allocation in between the different class.  


So, for example, in THESL, THESL represent 97 percent of the revenue expected, and you would be able to vouch that when you get a copy of our business plan.  Obviously, it's prior to any consolidation entry, but it's -- 97 percent of the costs of the revenue comes from THESL.  Therefore, THESL will grab 97 percent of these costs allocated to THC.  That's the methodology.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have to say I'm still a little bit confused.  Maybe I can go through a couple of examples and you can help me.  


MR. ZEBROWSKI:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just take a look at 2006, and you brought up regulatory services.  The total cost in THC, all spent by THC, for regulatory service is $4.1 million; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's all spent by THC; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then you allocate most of it to THESL, but you allocate $234,000 to THC.  Why do you allocate money to THC?  THC isn't regulated.


MR. COUILLARD:  There are some general corporate -- for example, we need Mr. Zebrowski.  If you were to look at all our disclosure for OSC purposes, there's a lot of work that is done.  Our annual information format gets filed with the OSC.  There's a lot of work that gets done in order to go through this, like, to make sure that there are some -- the reporting that we are doing from a governance perspective will be included in that.  There's a very small amount, but most of it will be allocated directly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that $234,000 would be things like Mr. Zebrowski participating in the review of your securities filings?


MR. COUILLARD:  That could be part of it, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And would it include things like your time spent with the bond rating agencies talking about the THESL business, which is 97 percent of your business?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, tat will be in the finance area.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so then -- so you allocate that initially to THC, but then ‑‑ I'm going to talk about another one in a second, but then you go down to corporate and all those things that are allocated to THC are deducted, so THC ends up with zero; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then correct me if I'm wrong, you just said that everything in regulatory ends up in THESL, so I assume that that $234,000 ends up in that 8.6 million being allocated back to THESL?


MR. COUILLARD:  Actually, no, through the math, 3 percent of that amount will go through the affiliates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah-hah.


MR. COUILLARD:  Because the amount that is left, the basis that we are using to allocate it is revenue.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I see.  Now, there's actually other things on that corporate line; right?  It's not just reallocating that 8.6 million.  There's also some additional costs that are allocated through the corporate line?


MR. COUILLARD:  I'm not sure I'm following.  Sorry, there are 3. -- yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There's another 3.5 million of costs that are specifically allocated to that line?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, and that will include board ‑‑ like, the Toronto board director, a lot of the governance costs that are not ‑‑ like, that are residing within the responsibility centre of the -- like, executive salary, for example.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So let me just go up to finance and treasurer.  That's your area; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you've got a budget of $11.2 million for 2006.  That's everything you spend in THC on finance and treasurer; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  It includes insurance, as well, which is a significant portion.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's good.  You're allocating 3.5 million to THC on your first go round?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Again, can you just give us an idea of why that is?


MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  Most of it is, like, OSC reporting, relationship with bondholder or shareholder, internal control.  That will be the type of expense we would have there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this 8.6 million that we see being reallocated back, this is all the costs of having a parent company.  This is all the costs of dealing -- of governance, of dealing -- not even governance.  Just of dealing with the outside world as a parent company; right?


MR. COUILLARD:  I disagree.  I think this cost would be incurred by THESL in any way.  If there was no affiliate or no parent company, for example, well, THESL would still have to be a public -- it will still be a public issuer, because they would have gone themselves and get the money.  They would still have to do reporting with the OSC.  We would still have a board of director.  We would still have to comply with internal control. 


So these costs are not just, you would say, like corporate costs.  These -- like, if we were to do a very extensive study, these costs would still be present in THESL, if THESL was on its own.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not disagreeing with you.  I'm trying just to understand the allocation method.  You have this $8.6 million that is your costs of dealing with the outside world as a corporate group, and you allocate 97 percent of them to THESL because that's their share of the size of the group, in essence?


MR. COUILLARD:  Well, Mr. Shepherd, on the 8.6, 2.5 is directly related to the cost of IT, for example, for the shared services group.  This is not really dealing with the outside world, as an example.  If you look at some of the other area --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, just let me stop you there.  Oh, I see.  That's that 2.5 million?


MR. COUILLARD:  Right, 2.5 million.  If I look at -- I mean, I can go through several examples, but if I look at corporate communication, for example, you know, you have a group that will speak to the press if there's outages.  I mean, every time we have outages, for example, newspapers are calling us.  This proceeding obviously was subject to calls from some news reporters.  Our corporate communication group will do that. 


THESL will still do in an annual report, if they had to, that would go this part, as well.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, these allocations to the various units, corporate you've already described; right?  Corporate is allocated based, what, on assets?  That 97 percent is assets?


MR. COUILLARD:  No.  And we're talking obviously here on -- 78 percent of all the 55 million is directly allocated.  It's cost that can be directly identified or a function that can be directly identified to the LDC.  The remaining of that is costs that are allocated based on revenue.  


We've looked at different way of doing the analysis.  Is revenue the right way to analyze that, or could it be any other matrix?  We believe revenue is a good reflection on the size of the business and how much is being driven from all different companies, and that's why we're using it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So on corporate, the corporate line, that $11.7 million, you are saying some of that is allocated directly do THESL because it's a cost that really belongs to them; is that right?


MR. COUILLARD:  No, the 11.7 is the 97 percent of what has not been allocated.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the cost driver for that line --


MR. COUILLARD:  Is revenue.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- is revenue.


MR. COUILLARD:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  For regulatory services, you just allocate 100 percent ‑‑ no, what do you on regulatory services, then?


MR. COUILLARD:  We've allocated -- most of it we've allocated directly, but there is a portion that you see in the regulatory ‑‑ 234,000 that would have been all indicated on the revenue ‑‑ based on revenue.  I guess in order to get to the number that is allocation, you would have to add all the THC number prior to the 8.6, you would have to add all these numbers plus the 3.5 below -- on the other column for corporate costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do we have somewhere in the     evidence the cost drivers the allocators for the other     categories?
     MR. COCHRANE:  Just a moment, please.  OEB -- our     responses to OEB Staff interrogatories 8, 9 and 10.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  This methodology for allocation was developed by you internally; right?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Developed by your staff internally.  It’s not something that you had external experts come     and help you with.
     MR. COUILLARD:  No.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Just one second, Mr. Chairman, I     just want to make sure I didn't miss anything.
     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Couillard, while Mr. Shepherd is    going through his notes, I understand your evidence when you look at 2006 you say of the total of $55 million, 52.2 was allocated directly.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.
     MR. KAISER:  Then you allocate the difference     between the other subsidiaries based on revenue, largely.  When you say allocated directly, what do you mean by that?
     MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Chairman, the correction is, the number that was allocated is more like directly is around $41 million and then we added an extra $11 million which is the revenue allocation.  When we mean directly allocated mean that we went on the – we did an analysis by function looking, for example, like in my area in finance, I got did accounts payable people.  So how much of the accounts payable people spending on LDC time versus spending on other affiliate.  Payroll could be another example.  How many people like we have payroll staff of like four or
five, is it like four people that are doing --

MR. KAISER:  Let me see if I understand.  Legal, that's pretty simple, you get a bunch of bills from lawyers and maybe have some in-house lawyers.  You can go through, and on the base of dockets, you can allocate that.  So this corporate amount, the 11.7, that's really what you couldn't allocate initially.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yeah, that would be like things like 

-– it’s very difficult to have the demarcation --
     MR. KAISER:  Add up everything you can and then you say, uh-oh, we've got 11.7 left.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Yeah, in total --
     MR. KAISER:  And to allocate that in some fashion.
     MR. COUILLARD:  Exactly.  In total, it was
$12.1 million, 11.7 was allocated to the distribution company and the rest was allocated to the smaller company.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, that's all our    questions.  Thank you.
     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  

Mr. DeVellis, do you want to start now or start in the morning?   We're in your hands.
     MR. DEVELLIS:  Probably best to start in the morning,
Mr. Chair, if you don't mind.  I have two documents to hand out.

MR. KAISER:  Could you distribute that now?   While we’re doing that, Mr. Rodger, where are we on this confidential information?   Have we got the undertaking signed?
     MR. RODGER:   Yes, I understand they’re now all signed and the intervenors that signed them have copies.  We also have copies for the Board which we'll leave with
Mr. Millar.
     MR. KAISER:  So do we have information you can
distribute to the panel?
     MR. MILLAR:  I don't think we have it yet, but I understand it’s here and it will be provided.

MR. KAISER:  Can we get that before we break?
     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I don't see why not.
     MR. RODGER:   Tomorrow, sir, do you just want to     carry on with the completion of Panel 2 before we go in camera.
     MR. KAISER:  It looks like we might have another two hours in total, something like that, Mr. Dingwall?
     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm budgeting around an hour, sir.
     MR. KAISER:  Then we'll proceed with the in-     camera session with the same panel.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, before we leave scheduling does the Board have some sense of if we can't finish tomorrow, when the next hearing date would be?
     MR. KAISER:  No, we don’t, but well try come back with some sense by the morning.
    MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, if it assists I will probably still want to look at it this evening, but we have taken the liberty of looking to see what days are available.  

So just to plant this thought in peoples’ heads, it appears that Tuesday, January 31st is largely clear.  We     looked at your calendar, Mr. Chair.  Apparently there is a meeting between 10:00 and 11:30 that morning but we want table to determine --
     MR. KAISER:  We'll go over that tonight.
     MR. MILLAR:  Maybe this parties could least think
     about next Tuesday.
     MR. KAISER:  We we’re on that, we had some discussion about argument and we're trying to fix days.  We’ve developed an enormous scheduling problem just because of the number of cases that are going on.  I thought what might assist everyone is if we agree that you could file written argument, Mr. Rodger, a week after we finish
this case, whenever that might be, and the intervenors could file reply argument a week after that.  We then might actually call you back orally for reply in the event we have some questions.  Of course you could reply to the intervenors’ argument at that time.  So think about that overnight if that meets your schedule.
     MR. RODGER:  Thank you, sir.
     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. DeVellis, did you have those
documents?   Did you want them entered as exhibits now?
     MR. DEVELLIS:  If you like or we can do it in the morning.
     MR. MILLAR:   If you have them now maybe we should
just --
     MR. KAISER:  Let’s distribute them now so everyone has them.  Can you give them a number?
     MR. MILLAR:   Yes.  I think we are at K6.2, Mr. Rodger.  I don't know if you kept an independent list of the exhibits.
     MR. KAISER:  These confidential documents you’re handing out, they have all been stamped, I assume.  Have they?   

MR. DEVELLIS:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  They’re stamped confidential.
     MR. RODGER:  Yes, they are.
     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, for the record, K6.2 are the CCTA decision.  I don't believe we gave that a number
earlier but that will be the exhibit number for that.

EXHIBIT K6.2: CCTA DECISION
     Mr. DeVellis has handed two documents, the first    is a Stats Can document; is that right, Mr. DeVellis?
     MR. DEVELLIS:  Yes, labour force.
     MR. MILLAR:  A labour force survey and that will be K6.3.  

EXHIBIT K6.3:  LABOUR FORCE SURVEY

MR. MILLAR:  The second document from VECC will be K6.4 and that is an except from the 2006 Electricity Distribution Rate Handbook, report of the Board.

EXHIBIT K6.4:  EXCERPT FROM 2006 ELECTRICITY DISTRIBUTION RATE HANDBOOK REPORT OF THE BOARD AND AFFILIATE RELATIONSSHIPS CODE

MR. DEVELLIS:  It’s actually two documents, one is

an except from the Board.  The first is an excerpt from the report of the Board.  The second document is from the Affiliate Relations Code.
     MR. MILLAR:  So two documents in that, One is
from the EDR report, the second is it the entire
Affiliates Relations code.
     MR. DEVELLIS:  I believe it is.
     MR. MILLAR:  The entire code.  And then we have
two documents, Mr. Rodger?

MR. KAISER:  Two confidential documents.

MR. RODGER:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  The first –- we will mark these with an X as well.  So we're at KX6.5, the consolidated financial     statements of Toronto Hydro Corporation dated December 31st, 2005, KX6.5.  And KX6.6 is -- this is the 2006 to 2010 business plan of Toronto Hydro Corporation.  Both of the X exhibits are confidential.

EXHIBIT NO. KX6.5:  THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT OF TORONTO HYDRO CORPORATION DATED DECEMBER 31, 2005 (CONFIDENTIAL)

EXHIBIT NO. KX6.6: 2006 TO 2010 BUSINESS PLAN OF TORONTO HYDRO CORPORATION (CONFIDENTIAL)
MR. KAISER:  Did you want the Panel members to
sign the undertaking?

MR. MILLAR:  It has not been the Board's practice.

MR. KAISER:  We’re quite happy to do it if you want.
     MR. MILLAR:  If Mr. Rodger requests it, I don’t object either.  It hasn’t been the Board’s practice.

MR. RODGER:  We don’t require it. 
MR. KAISER:  We better make sure we return all this stuff at the end of the case then.  
MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Mr. Chair.  

MR. KAISER:  9:30 tomorrow.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:24 p.m.
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